CONCENTRATIONS OF ORGANOCHLORINE INSECTICIDE RESIDUES IN SELECTED VEGETABLES IN THE SUNYANI WEST DISTRICT OF THE

BRONG AHAFO REGION OF GHANA

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF THEORETICAL AND

APPLIED BIOLOGY,

COLLEGE OF SCIENCE

KWAME NKRUMAH UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY, IN

PARTIAL

FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AWARD OF MASTER

OF SCIENCE (ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE)

BY

BAAH, GIFTY GYAMFUAH

NOVEMBER, 2014

BADW

CORSERVE

4

DECLARATION

It is hereby declared that this thesis is the outcome of research work undertaken by the author, any assistance obtained has been duly acknowledged. It has neither in part nor whole been presented for another degree elsewhere.



ABSTRACT

A major practice in agriculture over the last decade is the use of pesticides to protect crops from insects and other pests that negatively affect crop quality and yield. That notwithstanding, these pesticides are often harmful to more than just their target species. Many of the most widely used pesticides have been classified as Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs). They are applied directly to the crops and some may still be present as residues in or on vegetables and fruits after their harvest, especially where there is abuse, misuse and overuse of the pesticides. The present study was undertaken to determine the concentrations of organochlorine insecticide residues in selected vegetables (carrots, cabbage and green pepper) from three farming communities in Sunyani, in the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana. Sixty eight farmers were interviewed on insecticide use practices. The field survey revealed the use of some banned insecticides and approximately 38.2% of the respondents mixed two or more insecticides without considering the health implications on humans, animals and the environment. A total of 120 pieces of all three vegetables were obtained from farmers' fields for analysis. Samples were subjected to extraction, clean-up and analysis by Gas Chromatograph Electronic Capture Detector for organochlorine insecticide residues.

Laboratory analysis confirmed the presence of organochlorine insecticide residues in some of the samples analyzed. Overall, percent insecticide residues in carrot, lettuce and cabbage samples were 38%, 28% and 34%, respectively, levels which were below the limits set by the EU, except for heptachlor and mirex which exceeded the limits in some cases. Therefore, vegetables from these farming communities are considered safe for consumption but there is the need for constant monitoring since there could be bioaccumulation of residues in the food chain when vegetables are consumed over a long period. W J SAME

BADH

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I thank the Almighty God for seeing me through successfully. Unto Him be all the glory.

To my Supervisor, Professor B. Walter Lawson of KNUST, may the good Lord continually bless you and your family for your perfect supervision, direction and constructive criticism that kept this work in good shape. God richly bless you.

I am most grateful to all the farmers, chemical sellers, as well as Achiebold, Francis, Jacob, Mawuli, Agnes and all staff of the chemistry department of the Atomic Energy Commission for their hospitality, love, support and assistance at all times, 'Merci beacoup'.

I am particularly indebted to my loving family who supported me in every area of my life, especially my father, James Baah, who has been the brain behind my success.

To my husband Godfried, thank you for your love, support and valuable contributions. God richly bless you. I am also very thankful to Amos and Family for their support and assistance in any way. May the Good Lord continually bless them all.

Finally, I wish to express my profound appreciation to my study mates Irene, Eric, Shoe, etc who supported me in diverse ways to achieve my aim. To all my colleagues, the teaching and non-teaching staff of the College of Science, Department of Environmental Science I say a big thank you.

God richly bless you all.

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to the Almighty God and to my loving father, James Baah.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	
ii ABSTRACT	
iii ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	
••••••	iv DEDICATION
	v TABLE OF
CONTENTS	vi LIST OF
TABLES	x LIST
LIST OF PLATES	XI
xii LIST OF ABBREVIATONS	
xiii LIST OF APPENDICES	
	xiv
CHAPTER ONE	
1 1.0 INTRODUCTION	
11 BACKGROUND	
1	
1 2 PROBLEM STATEMENT	3
A	
1.4 OBJECTIVE OF THE STUDY	
1.4.1 Main Objective	
1.4.2 Specific Objectives	
1.5 HYPOTHESIS	
1.5.1Null Hypothesis (H _o)	
1.5.2 Alternative hypothesis (H ₁)	
6	3
(EL A)	
	and a second
7 2 0 I ITERATURE REVIEW	

2.1 DEFINITION OF PESTICIDES	. 7
2.2 PESTICIDES AND THE CONTROL OF INSECT PESTS	. 7
2.3 PESTICIDES AND RESIDUES	. 9
2.4 FATE OF PESTICIDES IN THE ENVIRONMENT	10
2.5 PERSISTENT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS (POPs)	11

2.6 COMMON PESTICIDES USED IN GHANA 11
2.7 ORGANOCHLORINE COMPOUNDS112.7.1Hexachlorocyclohexane (HCH)12
2.7.2 Heptachlor
2.7.3 Chlordane
2.7.4 Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT)14
2.7.5 Dieldrin and Aldrin
2.7.6 Endrin
2.8 HEALTH EFFECTS OF INSECTICIDES ON HUMANS
2.9 ENVIRONMENTAL EFFECTS OF PESTICIDES
2.10 METABOLISM OF PESTICIDES IN PLANTS
2.11 SAFETY AND RESIDUES
2.12 PESTICIDE RESIDUE TOLERANCES
2.12.1 Maximum Residue Level (MRL)
2.12.2 Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI)
2.12.3 Acute Reference Dose (ARfD)
2.13 DETERMINATION OF PESTICIDE RESIDUES IN CROPS
2.14 PESTICIDE AN <mark>D OTHER RESIDU</mark> E LEVELS IN FRUITS, VEGETABLES
AND HUMAN FLUID SAMPLES

3.4.1Cleaning of Glassware	9
3.4.2 Reagents	9
3.4.3 Extraction	9
3.4.4 Clean-up	1
3.4.5 Quantification31	
3.4.6 GAS CHROMATOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS OF CHLORINATED	
RESIDUES	2
3.4.7Quality Control Measures	2
3.4.8 Statistical Analysis	3
CHAPTER FOUR	•••
34	
4.0 RESULTS	
4.1 FIELD SURVEY	
4.1.1 Age group of Respondents	4
4.1.2Gender of Respondents	4
4.1.3Educational Level of Respondents	5
4.1.4 Insecticides Used by Farmers	6
4.1.5Combination of Two or More Insecticides	7
4.1.6 Frequency of Insecticide Application in a Growing Season	8
4.1.7 How Farmers Applied Insecticides	8
4.1.8 Understanding of Instructions on Insecticide Application Procedures	9
4.2 ORGANOCHLORINE INSCTICIDE RESIDUE ANALYSI	S
4.2.1 Levels of Pesticide Residues Found in Vegetables From Farms at	
Odumase	0
4.2.2 Levels of Insecticide Residues Found in Vegetables From Farms a Kwatire	at
	3
4.2.3 Levels of Insecticide Residues Found In Vegetables From Farms a Adantia	ıt
	7

4.2.4 Insecticide Residues in Green Pepper, Carrot and Cabbage in the Study Area 51

CHAPTER FIVE	•••••
5.1 SEX AND AGE OF RESPONDENTS	56
5.2 EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND OF RESPONDENTS	56
5.3 TYPES OF PESTICIDES USED BY FARMERS	57
5.4 COMBINATION OF TWO OR MORE CHEMICALS	57
5.5 MODE AND FREQUENCY OF APPLICATION OF PESTICIDES	58
5.6 ORGANOCHLORINE INSECTICIDE RESIDUES IN VEGETABLE	
SAMPLES	58

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Sampling sites of vegetables	·28
Table 2: Types of Insecticides used by Farmers	36
Table 3: Detected insecticide res <mark>idues (ngg⁻¹; fresh weig</mark> ht) in Green Pepper	
(<i>Capsicum annum</i>) samples from Odumase	40
Table 4: Detected Insecticide resides (ngg ⁻¹ ; fresh weight) in Carrot (Daucus carota)	
Samples from Odumase41	
Table 5: Detected insecticide residues (ngg ⁻¹ ; fresh weight) in Cabbage (Brass	ica

oleracea var capitata) Samples from Odumase ------ 42

Table 6: Detected Insecticide residues (ngg-1; fresh weight) in Green Pepper

(Capsicum annum) Samples from Kwatire ------

- Table 8: Detected Insecticide residues (ngg⁻¹; fresh weight) in Cabbage (Brassica oleracea var capitata) samples from Kwatire ------ 46
- Table 9: Detected insecticide residues (ngg⁻¹; fresh weight) in Green Pepper samples

 Table 10: Detected insecticide residues (ngg⁻¹; fresh weight) in Carrot (Daucus carota)

 samples from Adantia

49

 Table 11: Detected insecticide residues (ngg⁻¹; fresh weight) in Cabbage (Brassica oleracea var capitata) samples from Adantia ------ 50

Table 12: Number and percentage of insecticide residues in vegetable samples withexceeding MRL values in all three locations54

Table 13: Overall percent total insecticide residues in Vegetable samples from

Sunyani West District

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig 1: Map of Sunyani West District	26
Fig. 2: Age group of Respondents	34
Fig. 3: Gender of Respondents	35
Fig. 4: Educational level of Respondents	36
Fig. 5: Combination of two or more insecticides	37
Fig 6: Frequency of Insecticide Application in a Growing Season	38
Fig. 7: Mode of insecticide application	38
Fig. 8: Ability to Understand Instructions on Insecticide Labels	39
Fig 9: Comparison of the frequency of occurrence of various insecticide residues in	
Green Pepper (Capsicum annum) in the three study location	51
Fig. 10: Comparison of the frequency of occurrence of various insecticide residu	les
in Carrot (<i>Daucus carota</i>) samples in the three study locations	52
Fig. 11: Comparison of the frequency of occurrence of various insecticide residues in	n
Cabbage (Brassica oleracea var capitata) samples in the three study locations -	53



LIST OF PLATES

Plate 1: Soni	ication of Analytes30
Plate 2: Eva	poration of analytes with the Rotary Vacuum Evaporator 30
Plate 3: Cle 31 LIST OF	anup of analytes
ACAT	Acetyl-coenzyme A acetyltransferases
A-HCH	Alpha- Hexachlorocyclohexane
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
ATSDR	Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry in the United States
DDE	Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene
DDT	Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
EU	European Union
FAO	Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations
FASDEP	Food and Agricultural Sector Development Policy
GAEC	Ghana Atomic Energy Commission
GC	Gas Chromatography
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
HCB	Hexachlorocyclobenzene
HCH	Hexachlorocyclohexane
ng/g	Nanogram per gram
mg/kg	Microgram per kilogram
MRL	Maximum Residual Limit
MSLC	Middle School Leaving Certificate
ND <	Not Detected
ng	nanogram
nL	nanolitre
OCPs	Organochlorine Pesticides
PCBs	Polychlorinated Biphenols
PPRSD	Plant Protection and Regulatory Services Directorate
sq. km	Square Kilometer
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency



LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Research Questionaire	76
Appendix 2: Analysis Of Variance (Anova) For An Experiment Repeated Over	
Different Locations	78
Appendix 3: Anova Table for green pepper (Capsicum annum)	78
Appendix 4: Anova Table for carrot (Daucus carota)	78
Appendix 5: Anova Table for cabbage (Brassica oleracea var capitata)	79



CHAPTER ONE

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 BACKGROUND

Agricultural production is one of the largest and most important economic activities in the world, particularly in low and middle income countries such as Ghana, where agriculture has a significant impact on GDP growth (Aseno-Okyere et al., 2008). A major factor in agriculture over the last decades is the use of pesticides that protect crops from insects and pests that may be harmful to crop quality and yields. The term "pesticide" describes a category of agrochemicals that are used to protect crops from certain bacteria, insects, and other potentially damaging organisms. Though pesticides have been instrumental in contributing to global agricultural growth, they are often harmful to more than just their target species. According to Longnecker et al., (1997), organophosphates and organochlorine pesticides, for example, can cause damage to nervous systems by harming neurotransmitting enzymes and can be ingested by many different types of creatures. Unfortunately, many chemical pesticides, particularly those containing chlorinated compounds, are often persistent in the environment and can be toxic to humans. These kinds of pesticides are dangerous to many different forms of life, and their impacts can spread far beyond their production and application point to even a global scale. Chemical pesticides can harm agricultural workers who do not wear the proper safety gear and can also be dangerous for nearby communities. Common pathways for human exposure include inhalation when pesticides are applied (particularly when applied through spraying), ingestion of contaminated foods, ingestion of contaminated soil (particularly children, who may not wash hands before eating after playing in dirt), and contamination of surface or groundwater and subsequent ingestion.

Some organochlorine pesticides, including DDT, lindane, endosulfan, and chlordane, are so disruptive and dangerous that many countries have banned their use and have classified them as Highly Hazardous. Despite the risks associated with pesticide use, many forms of these chemicals are still widely used in low and middle income countries in a large variety of agricultural settings and have impacts far beyond the locations where they are sprayed.

Studies have found that over 98% of insecticides used in agricultural processes do not quickly degrade at the point of application and end up entering the larger environment, typically through rain and irrigation runoff, spray carry-over, or residue retention on food (Miller, 2004).

Many of the world's agricultural processes take place in rural and economically disadvantaged areas where regulations are lacking and health standards are not enforced. For these reasons, pesticides are often improperly used and stored, and workers are often not fully aware of, and protected from the dangers that pesticide exposure and contamination can cause. In addition, due to laxity of regulations, low cost, and the effectiveness of certain hazardous pesticides, sustained use of banned pesticides is an ongoing problem in many low-income rural areas (Wesseling *et al.*, 1997). Thus, agricultural workers and their families are more severely affected by dangerous pesticides /chemicals and contamination in these regions than in higherincome countries with tighter regulations. Vegetables are the most important ingredients of the human diet for the maintenance of good health and prevention of diseases. Ghana also exports quantities of vegetables such as okra and chillies to

European countries including Germany, Belgium and Switzerland (Gyau and Spiller, 2007). Unfortunately the yield of vegetables is affected by pests, which necessitates the use of insecticides to control pests. A wide range of pesticides are used for crop protection during cultivation of vegetables due to heavy pest infestation throughout the growing

season. A consequence of their use may be the presence of pesticide residues in treated products, fruits, vegetables, grains and other commodities. Studies by Ntow *et al.*, (2006) showed that residues of organochlorine pesticides are present in environmental samples at Akomadan and in human fluids of its inhabitants. These residues were concluded to have originated from agricultural activities in the area and it is expected that an appreciable build-up of residues with time will occur because of the continuous use of pesticides in the area.

1.2 PROBLEM STATEMENT

In vegetable and fruit production, insecticides are used to control pests and fungicides to control diseases. They are applied directly to the crops and some may still be present as residues in or on the vegetables and fruits after their harvests, especially where there is abuse, misuse and overuse of the pesticides (Gerkan *et al.*, 2001). As a result, consumers of food crops are exposed to pesticides which raise some health concerns. Residues from fruits and vegetables pose a greater threat to public health because they are usually taken raw or partially cooked.

About 87% of farmers who grow vegetables in Ghana use pesticides (Dinham, 2003). Many of the farmers spray the same wide range of pesticides on all vegetables and ignore pre – harvest intervals (Ntow *et al.*, 2006). Sometimes farmers spray pesticides one day before harvest to sell good looking vegetables. This practice, in particular, exposes consumers to pesticides. Studies conducted by Horna *et al.*, (2007), indicated that farmers in Ghana currently use higher than recommended doses of pesticides. Many of the most widely used pesticides have been classified as Persistent Organic

Pollutants (POPs), meaning that they have long life-spans, do not biodegrade well, and have the ability to bio-accumulate in living tissue. When large amounts of pesticides build up in food sources, they contaminate the food chain of nearby communities.

1.3 JUSTIFICATION

In Ghana, there has been a rapid increase in the quantity of pesticides used in agriculture over the last ten years (Hodgson, 2003). Every pesticide has a withholding period, waiting period, lapse or pre-harvest interval (PHI), which is defined as the number of days required to lapse, between the date of final pesticide application and harvest, for residues to fall below the tolerance level established for that crop or for a similar food type. The PHI differs from pesticide to pesticide and crop to crop. Food products become safe for consumption only after the withholding period has lapsed. By this time, the pesticide residues get dissipated. However the extent and rate of dissipation depends on the nature of the pesticide, crop, cultural practices and various environmental conditions under which the crop is grown or a treated commodity is stored (Handa et al., 1999). Due to lack of education, farmers of Ghana do not follow the prescribed dosages and use pesticides at any stage of the crop without any awareness of the residues and their ill effects on human health. The treated crops are harvested without taking into account the withholding period. Many of the developed countries have established regular monitoring programmes (Reed et al., 1987). Unfortunately, no such regulations have been enforced in Ghana because of the non - availability of sufficient data on the pesticide residue status in agricultural products in the country. Epidemiological studies and laboratory studies in animals have shown that exposure to pesticides have adverse health effects including cancer, birth defects, reproductive harm, neurological and developmental toxicity, immunitoxicity and disruption of the endocrine system (Bassil et al., 2007).

In order to ensure that consumers are not exposed to unacceptable pesticide residue levels and also to preserve the environment, the amounts of residues found in food must be as low as possible. Pesticide residues in food crops can be reduced by following Good Agricultural Practices (GAP). The maximum residue level (MRL) is the highest level (contamination) of a pesticide residue that is legally tolerated in or on food or feed. This work was therefore aimed at documenting the concentrations of pesticide residues that are likely to be left in some selected vegetables at the time of harvest and compare them with acceptable MRL values.

1.4 OBJECTIVE OF THE STUDY

1.4.1 Main Objective

To determine the concentrations of organochlorine insecticide residues in selected vegetables (carrots, cabbage and green pepper) from three farming communities in Sunyani, in the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana.

1.4.2 Specific Objectives

The specific objectives of the study were to determine the:

- 1. Types of pesticides used by the farmers
- 2. Frequency and mode of application of such pesticides
- 3. Levels of the pesticide residues in the selected food crops at the time of harvest.

1.5 Hypothesis

1.5.1 Null Hypothesis (H₀)

There are no chemical residues found in vegetables grown and harvested in the three selected communities of the Sunyani West District of the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana.

1.5.2 Alternative hypothesis (H1)

There are chemical residues found in vegetables grown and harvested in the three selected communities of the Sunyani West District of the Brong Ahafo Region of

Ghana.



CHAPTER TWO

2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 DEFINITION OF PESTICIDES

The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) has defined a pesticide as; any substance or mixture of substances intended for preventing, destroying or controlling any pest, including vectors of human or animal disease, unwanted species of plants or animals causing harm or interfering with the production, processing, storage, transport or marketing of food, agricultural commodities, wood and wood products or animal feedstuffs, or substances which may be administered to animals for the control of insects, arachnids or other pests in or on their bodies (FAO, 2002).

According to Bateman (2010), the term pesticide can also be defined simply as any substance which is used to control a pest, at any stage in crop production, storage or transport.

From the above definitions, a pesticide can be described as a natural or man-made preparation that may be used to kill or control a pest population, control weeds or diseases in plants and animals including human beings.

They have been widely used throughout the world since the middle of the last century for their various benefits. Pesticides have been applied in agriculture and animal production to eliminate pests. In this way, pesticides are used to increase the output of both animals and crops, improve the quality of products, and decrease the incidence of illnesses propagated by insects (Bempah and Donkor, 2011).

2.2 PESTICIDES AND THE CONTROL OF INSECT PESTS

Pesticides are considered to be indispensable for the production of adequate food supply for an increasing human population and for the control of insect-borne diseases.

SANE

There has been a rapid increase in the quantity of pesticides used in Agriculture over the past ten years (Ejobi *et al.*, 1996).

According to Gruzdyer *et al* (1983) about 70,000 species of insects and mites attack all parts of agricultural plants in their growth phase or in storage and about 10000 species of them cause substantial economic harm. Stilling (1985) reported that first records of insecticides were made as far back as the year 2500 BC. These were distinguished by their exceptionally broad spectrum of action and cheapness of manufacture (Gruzdyer *et al.*, 1983). On the other hand, Miller (2002) reported that humans have utilized pesticides to protect their crops since 2000 BC.

In 1939, Paul Muller discovered that DDT was a very effective insecticide. It quickly became the most widely used pesticide in the world. In the 1940's, manufacturers began to produce large amounts of synthetic pesticides and their use became widespread. Some sources consider the 1940's and 1950's to be the beginning of pesticide era (Murphy, 2005).

Pesticide use has increased fifty fold, since then; 2.3 million tons of industrial pesticides are now being used each year (Miller, 2002). Seventy-five percent (75%) of all pesticides in the world are used in the developed countries but their use in the developing countries is increasing (Miller, 2004). Among farmers, the most widely used pesticide is the organochlorine insecticides because of their cost effectiveness and their broad spectrum activity (Bempah *et al.*, 2011). Organochlorine insecticide usage was widespread in the 1940s in agricultural and malaria control programmes. Sources of organochlorine residues are mostly anthropogenic. Their use has become almost completely discontinued because of their environmental effects. Examples of these commonly used were Heptachlor, aldrin, toxaphene, endosulfan, endrin, chlordane and DDT. One

organochlorine compound that is still in use today is Lindane which is used in the medical product, Kwell, against human ectoparasitic infections. Some are still commonly used in developing countries (Williams *et al.*, 2000).

2.3 PESTICIDES AND RESIDUES

Pesticide residues in food items have been a concern to environmental and consumer groups. The gravity of the problem of residues is augmented by untimely, uneconomical and unscrupulous spraying of insecticides. These residues make food commodities hazardous for human consumption and export. They also pollute the environment (FAO, 1989). In Ghana, fruit and vegetable production are on the increase to meet the balanced diet requirements of humans, and for better health. Accordingly, everybody is encouraged to consume more fruits and vegetables as they are essential sources of vitamins, fibre, etc. Research has shown that diets with greater proportions of fruits and vegetables can prevent or delay a number of debilitating and life-threatening diseases. Pesticide residues above the tolerance limits (MRL) in the crop at harvest are a cause of great concern globally and nationally. Currently, organophosphates (OP), carbamates and pyrethroids are mostly used while organochlorine (OC) insecticides have been banned because of their toxicity, persistence and bioaccumulation in the environment (Molto et al., 1991). Carbamates and pyrethroids are of limited persistence as compared to organophosphates. However, knowledge of withholding period becomes important even for less persistent

insecticides, specifically in fruits and vegetables since these crops are harvested shortly after pesticide application (Reed *et al.*, 1987).

2.4 FATE OF PESTICIDES IN THE ENVIRONMENT

The natural processes that govern the fate and transport of agrochemicals especially pesticides in the environment can be grouped into the broad categories of runoff,

leaching, sorption, volatilization, degradation and plant uptake. Once a pesticide is applied to soil, a number of things may happen. It may be taken up by plants or ingested by animals, worms, or microorganisms in the soil. It may move downward in the soil and either adhere to particles or dissolve. The pesticide may vaporize and enter the atmosphere, degrade via solar energy or break down via microbial and chemical pathways into other less toxic compounds. Insecticides may leach out of the root zone or wash off the surface of land by rain or irrigation water, eventually ending in the sediments through the water column. The fate of pesticides applied to soil depends largely on two of its properties; persistence and sorption. Two other pathways of pesticide loss are removal in the harvested plant and volatilization into the atmosphere, which subsequently impact water, sediment, soil, and air quality negatively and creating problems for agricultural workers who could be pesticide intoxicated via inhalation at the treated areas (Fianko *et al.*, 2011).

The physical and chemical properties of organochlorine compounds not only made them effective insecticides but also resulted in their persistence and bioaccumulation in the food chains leading to the discontinuance of their use. Organochlorine insecticides act on the nervous system to produce adverse effects. This class of chemicals is thought to act by the interference with cation exchange across the nerve cell membranes resulting in hyperactivity of the nerves (Williams *et al.*, 2000).

2.5 PERSISTENT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS (POPs)

These are a group of toxic chemical substances that persist in the environment, bioaccumulate along the food chain, and are a risk to human health. Twelve substances were initially classified as POPs under the Stockholm Convention, namely; aldrin, chlordane, DDT, dieldrin, endrin, heptachlor, mirex, toxaphene, polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), hexachlorobenzene, dioxins and dibenzofurans.

2.6 COMMON PESTICIDES USED IN GHANA

In Ghana DDT is banned whereas lindane and endosulfan are restricted for the control of capsids on cocoa, stem-borers in maize and pests on coffee. However, research has shown that these potent agrochemicals are used in vegetable production (Ntow, *et al.*, 2008). Vegetable growers mix several pesticides for use in order to increase their potency. Several pesticides especially chloropyrifos are widely used by vegetable producers in Ghana.

2.7 ORGANOCHLORINE COMPOUNDS

An organochlorine insecticide is a kind of synthetic chemical which can be divided into two groups: one uses benzene as the raw material and the other uses the cyclopentadiene. They are both very stable, therefore their persistence and bioaccumulation is very strong (Rathore, 2012). These pesticides, characterized by their cyclic structure; number of chlorine atoms and low volatility, can be divided into four groups (Anderson *et al.*, 2000). These four groups are:

- 1. Dichlorodiphenyle (such as DDT)
- 2. Cyclodienes (Such as dieldrin, endosulfan and heptachlor)
- 3. Chlorinated benzenes (Such as hexachlorobenzene) and
- 4. Cyclohexanes (Such as lindane)

Although these chemicals were widely used until the mid - 1970's, most of them are now banned from use in the developed countries. They are, however, still being produced in other countries. Furthermore, one of these insecticides, endosulfan is still in widespread use throughout the world despite its known adverse effects on humans as an endocrine disrupting compound (Andersen *et al.*, 2000).

2.7.1 Hexachlorocyclohexane (HCH)

Hexachlorocyclohexane (HCH) is a manufactured chemical that exists in eight chemical forms called isomers. One of these forms, gamma-HCH (or γ -HCH, commonly called lindane) is produced and used as an insecticide against fruit, vegetable and forest crop insect pests. It is a white solid that may evaporate into the air as a colourless vapour with a slightly musty odour. It is also available as a prescription (lotion, cream, or shampoo) to treat head and body lice, and scabies. Lindane has not been produced in the United States since 1976, but is imported for use against insects. Technical-grade HCH was used as an insecticide in the United States and typically contained 10-15% gamma-HCH as well as the alpha (α), beta (β), delta (δ), and epsilon

(ε) forms of HCH. Virtually all the insecticidal properties resided in gamma-HCH. In mammals, metabolism of alpha- HCH generally leads to less chlorinated unsaturated metabolites (Roberts *et al.*, 1999).

2.7.2 Heptachlor

Heptachlor is an organochlorine cyclodiene that has been used to control termites, ants and household insects. It is also applied as seed treatment, soil treatment or on direct foliage. Metabolic processes by which it undergoes transformation are epoxidation, hydrolysis and dechlorination. It is not readily dehydrochlorinated but it is most susceptible to epoxidation. It is hydrolysed in water to 1-hydroxychlordene. It is transformed into a variety of products which differ from one another only in steroeochemical features while retaining the carbon skeleton (Roberts *et. al.*, 1999). Heptachlor oxidizes by both photochemical and biological processes to heptachlor epoxide which is extremely persistent in the soil. Plants can draw heptachlor epoxide directly from the soil and the chemical bioaccumulates in humans (Rathore and Nollet, 2012). Heptachlor is shown to cause cancer in laboratory animals investigated and may increase the risk of cancer in humans who are exposed to it for long periods (Udeh, 2004).

2.7.3 Chlordane

Chlordane is a viscous, colourless, or amber-coloured liquid with a chlorine-like odour. It is a mixture of steroeisomers and other chlorinated analogs including heptachlor. It is insoluble in water but miscible with aliphatic and aromatic hydrocarbon solvents including deodorized kerosene. It loses its chlorine content in the presence of alkaline reagents (Udeh, 2004). It's an insecticide used to control termites, ants and other insects. It enters the environment primarily by its application as an insecticide and is not very mobile in soils. Though chlordane adheres to the soil, its presence in ground water indicates its tendency to leach into the groundwater (Udeh, 2004). Rathore and Nollet (2012) indicated that chlordane has been found to be in soils after twenty (20) years of its initial application.

2.7.4 Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT)

DDT is a commercial organochlorine insecticide that has been used in the control of pests of agricultural crops as well as disease vector control. Technical grade DDT is a mixture of fourteen (14) compounds (Rathore and Nollet, 2012). The active ingredient is p,p-DDT (65% to 80%). The other compounds include o,p-DDT, up to 4% of p,pDDD and other substances. DDT compounds can be degraded to DDD under anaerobic conditions while it can be degraded to Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE). These degradation products are more persistent than the parent compound and are bioaccumulative, transported over long ranges and have adverse effects on humans, animals and the environment. In areas where DDT exposure is recent, the DDE/DDT ratio is low whereas

in areas where substantial time has passed since its use, DDE/DDT ratio is higher (Rathore and Nollet, 2012).

2.7.5 Dieldrin and Aldrin

Dieldrin and Aldrin are closely related organochlorine insecticides which are extremely persistent in the environment. They have both been used in agriculture and dieldrin for vector control, veterinary purpose and termite control. In both plants and animals, aldrin once present in soil or water is transformed to dieldrin. Dieldrin breaks down very slowly and does not easily evaporate into air, but binds to soil particles (Udeh, 2004). Plants take up aldrin and dieldrin residues directly from the soil. In animals, including humans, it is stored up in the fat and leaves the body very slowly. Because of the low water solubility and tendency to bind up to the soil, both aldrin and dieldrin migrate downward very slowly through the soil or into the surface water or ground water (Rathore and Nollet, 2012).

2.7.6 Endrin

Endrin is an odourless, white crystal. It is slightly soluble in alcohol and insoluble in water. It is an insecticide used on field crops such as maize, cotton, sugar cane, rice, cereals and ornamentals. Endrin has also been used to control grasshoppers on non-crop lands and to control voles and mice in orchids (Udeh, 2004).

When endrin is released into soils, it can persist for up to 14 years or more (Fianco *et al.*, 2011). It is persistent in treated soils and accumulates in sediments and terrestrial biota but known to be broken down by sunlight. It has been shown to cause damage to liver, kidney and heart of laboratory animals (Fianco *et al.*, 2011). It has a high potential to accumulate in fish and shell fish. In humans, endrin was linked with headache, dizziness, sweating, insomnia, nausea and general malaise (Udeh, 2004).

2.8 HEALTH EFFECTS OF INSECTICIDES ON HUMANS

The presence of environmental chemicals in the human body does not necessarily imply that they are causing adverse health effects. However, environmental chemical exposures can and do affect human health. It is important to note that both the dosage and the timing of exposure have significant effect on any potential health outcome. The health effects of organochlorine pesticide exposure depend on the specific pesticide, the level of exposure, the timing of exposure and the individual. Different insecticides result in a range of health symptoms (ACAT and Commonweal, 2012).

Kannan *et al.*, (1997) reported that studies revealed the association between breast cancer and other neo-plastic diseases in humans and long - term exposure to organochlorines. The report also indicated that organochlorines are endocrine disrupters. Epidemiological studies suggested an etiological relationship between exposure to organochlorines and Parkinson's disease (Udeh, 2004). Studies indicate a decrease in sperm counts have been associated with exposure to organochlorine insecticides (Kannan *et al.*, 1997).

2.9 ENVIRONMENTAL EFFECTS OF PESTICIDES

Pesticides have become widespread pollutants in the environment and now represent a global contamination problem. Pesticide use raises a number of environmental concerns. Over 98% of sprayed insecticides and 95% of herbicides reach a destination other than their target species, including non-target species, air, water and soil (Miller 2004). Pesticide drift occurs when pesticides suspended in the air as particles are carried by wind to other areas, potentially contaminating them. Pesticides are one of the causes of water pollution, and some pesticides are persistent organic pollutants and contribute to soil contamination. Pests can develop a resistance to the pesticide, necessitating a new

pesticide. Alternatively, a greater dose of the pesticide can be used to counteract the resistance, although this will cause a worsening of the ambient pollution problem.

2.10 METABOLISM OF PESTICIDES IN PLANTS

Pesticides penetrate into growing plants through the cuticle and stomata of the leaves. The penetration of pesticides through the cuticle is usually determined by the chemical structure of the active ingredient and surface tension of the carrier (Fletchern and

Kirkwood, 1982).

The metabolism of pesticides by plants is a key factor in the susceptibility and tolerance of a species to a given pesticide, whereas metabolism by Prokaryotes is often a key determinant in the environmental fate of that pesticide (Hudson and Roberts, 1981). After application, pesticides are degraded by chemical and physical processes in the environment such as sunlight, soil and water (abiotic degradation) or metabolized within living organisms. Breakdown of a pesticide in the environment can be thought of as following a decay curve. This is a function of the chemicals' half-life, which is the time (usually in days) required for half of the applied pesticide to become converted into degradation products which may in turn be biologically active and have substantial halflives (Bateman, 2009).

The rate of break-down depends on many factors, not least the chemical stability of the pesticide in question, but factors such as temperature and pH are extremely important, so the half-life may be expressed as a range. The most important mode of pesticide degradation is oxidation by activated oxygen (ozone and hydroxyl radicals generated by sunlight, hydrogen peroxide generated in plants) rather than oxygen in the atmosphere (Bateman, 2009). Allowing sufficient time to elapse between application and harvest enables any residue to degrade to acceptable levels (i.e the MRL) and the Pre- Harvest Interval (PHI) has a built-in safety factor. Reducing the dosage reduces the time to which

acceptable levels are reached, but pest control may be impaired. Excessive residues occur with short harvest intervals, overdosing, or worst of all both of these (Bateman, 2009).

2.11 SAFETY AND RESIDUES

Pesticide residues is a matter of great concern since members of the general public perceive a risk but feel it is a matter over which they have little control (Bateman, 2009). In response, authorities attempt to regulate by setting standards and monitoring exposure (Hamilton and Crossly, 2004). This is achieved by legislation and enforcement of the legislation. Two important measures are especially prominent in legislation which includes; Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI) and, measures and limits of actual residues based on field studies which includes maximum residue levels (MRLs). It is a practical specification for food producers for a given crop. Testing for residues is carried out following internationally agreed and validated methods and good laboratory practice (GLP) standards applied in some countries (Bateman, 2009).

2.12 PESTICIDE RESIDUE TOLERANCES

A tolerance is the maximum amount of a pesticide that can be on a raw product when it is used and still be considered safe. Before USEPA can register a pesticide for crop protection, it must grant a tolerance. Tolerances are based upon use of the pesticide product in accordance with good agricultural practices. Tolerances are established under conditions that maximize the potential for residues. Controlled field trials use the maximum rate permitted on the label, the maximum number of applications, and the minimum pre-harvest interval (the number of days between the last application and harvest) (Bateman, 2009).

2.12.1 Maximum Residue Level (MRL)

Maximum residue level (MRL) is the maximum concentration of pesticide residue likely to occur in or on a specific food commodity after the pesticide has been used under Good Agricultural Practice (GAP). MRLs are not necessarily safety limits, but primarily a check that GAP is being followed and are intended to assist international trade in produce, treated with pesticides (GRO- Cocoa, 2006). Limit of Detection (LOD) is the lowest concentration of a pesticide residue that can be measured by routine analysis. Continuing progress in analytical methods means residues can be detected at even smaller concentrations.

Pesticide residues on crops are monitored with reference to minimum residue limits and are based on analysis of quantity of a given Active ingredient remaining on food product samples (GRO- Cocoa, 2006). The minimum residue limit for a given crop or active ingredient is usually determined by measurement, during a number (in order of 10) of field trials, where the crop has been treated according to Good Agricultural Practice and appropriate Pre-harvest interval has elapsed (Bateman, 2009).

2.12.2 Acceptable Daily Intake (ADI)

This is the amount of an active ingredient (Active) that can be consumed daily over a life-time without harm, expressed in mg/Kg body weight of the consumer and based on toxicological evaluations (GRO-Cocoa, 2006).

2.12.3 Acute Reference Dose (ARfD)

This refers to an estimate of amount of an active ingredient, expressed in mg/Kg body weight of the consumer that can be ingested over a short period of time (1 meal or 1 day) without appreciable health risk (GRO-Cocoa, 2006).

A pesticide can only be approved for use if the risk to consumers, based on potential exposure, is acceptable. The limit set for a pesticidal active ingredient (AI), the ADI, is an estimate of the amount that can be consumed daily, for a lifetime, without harm to the person. The term acceptable is considered to involve a 100 fold safety factor from a measure called the No Observed Effect Level (NOEL) obtained in laboratory studies, which is 10 times lower than the Lowest Observable Effect Level (LOEL) (Bateman, 2009)

2.13 DETERMINATION OF PESTICIDE RESIDUES IN CROPS

Methods for determination of pesticide levels in/on crops and various types of foodstuffs consist of three steps. First, the pesticide is extracted from the food with an organic solvent; second, a clean – up is applied to the extract in order to remove coextractive material which may interfere with the analysis, and finally, the quantity of pesticide is determined by different methods such as thin layer chromatography (TLC), gas chromatography (GC), high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), supercritical fluid chromatography, spectrophotometry, immunoassay and capillary electrophoresis.

Extraction of pesticide residues with different solvents, cleanup, concentration and their detection and quantification by different analytical techniques are the major steps involved in pesticide residue analysis. The method of extraction and the type of solvent or solvent combination depend on the chemical and physical properties of the pesticide to be extracted, the type of substrate from which it will be quantitatively removed and the final method of analysis.

Different solvents such as n-heaxane, petroleum ether, methylene chloride and acetone or ethyl acetate have been used for extraction of pesticide residues from fruits and vegetables (Balint and Gyorfi, 1978). As more polar pesticides such as organophospates, phenoxyacetic acid and triazine came into use, more polar solvents such as chloroform, acetone, acetonitrile and methanol were found to be good extractants (*Luke et al.*, 1981; Lawrence, 1987; Lee *et al.*, 1990). Many workers used acetonitrile for the extraction of multiresidue of pesticides from fruits instead of methylene chloride, which is hazardous to the environment (Krause and August, 1983; Cook *et al.*, 1999). Fermandez-Alba *et al.*, (2000), found that ethyl acetate proved to be a good solvent as compared to other solvents for the extraction of residues of several pesticides from fruits and vegetables because its polarity is high, and it is less volatile and thermally labile.

2.14 PESTICIDE AND OTHER RESIDUE LEVELS IN FRUITS, VEGETABLES AND HUMAN FLUID SAMPLES

Residues of pesticides have been reported in milk, vegetables, fruits, meat, fish meal and other foods in Ghana. Between 1999-2000, Fianko *et al.*, (2011) found disturbing levels of pesticide, heavy metals, microorganisms and mycotoxins contamination in street-vended food samples in Accra. Vegetables on the Ghanaian market such as lettuce, cabbage, tomato and onion, were found to contain detectable levels of lindane, endosulfan and DDT residues (Ntow 1998; Ntow 2001). The possible reason for pesticides to reach these vegetables in the environments where they were sown is through direct runoff, leaching, careless disposal of empty containers, equipment washing, etc. Nonetheless, many other studies conducted so far have revealed the presence of detectable levels of pesticides especially organochlorines in fruits, vegetables, fish and fish products (Botchway, 2000; Yeboah *et al.*, 2004; Essumang *et al.*, 2009). The studies pointed out that majority of the samples contaminated by chlorinated pesticides exceeded the maximum residue limits which could cause pesticide hazard to the consumer (Fianko *et al.*, 2011). This agrees with studies conducted by Okorley and Kwarteng (2002) and

confirmed by Johnson (2002) who reported evidence of chloropyrifos in 'Rice and Beans' meal popularly known as

'waakye'.

Studies conducted by Bempah *et al* (2011) on fruits and vegetables from the Kumasi Metropolis of Ghana revealed that consumers in the metropolis are exposed to concentrations of pesticides that may cause chronic diseases. An average concentration of 0.05mg/kg of Gamma – HCH residues was attributed to the extensive use of lindane in the form of Gammalin 20 used by farmers in agriculture for crop protection, suggesting that lindane is extensively used in fruit and vegetable production. The study also revealed that aldrin is converted to dieldrin by epoxidation in biological systems.

Fianko et al (2011) reviewed studies undertaken by Glover-Amengor and Tetteh, (2008) and Nuertey et al (2007) on the effect of excessive use of pesticides on biomass and microorganisms in oil palm and vegetable agro-ecosystems in his paper. The findings indicated that the pesticides inhibit bacterial population resulting in inhibited nitrification and deprivation of other soil microorganisms of both organic and inorganic constituents in the soil, hence decreasing the soil fertility.

Several researchers have studied the occurrence of pesticide residues in crops. In the annual report of Pesticide Residue Regulatory Committee (2008) in the United Kingdom, 4129 samples of vegetables were tested individually for many different pesticides. Of the samples tested it was found that: 53.8% contained no residues tested for; 45% of samples contained residues below the MRL; and 1.2% of them contained residues above the MRL.

In India, studies conducted by Battu *et al*, (2005) revealed widespread contamination of vegetables, fruits, and cereals with insecticide residues. Kumari *et al*, (2001) monitored sixty market samples of six seasonal vegetables to determine the magnitude of pesticide contamination. The estimation of insecticide residues representing four major chemical groups i.e. organochlorine, organophosphorous, synthetic pyrethroids and carbamates, was done by adopting a multi-residue analytical technique employing Gas Chromatography –Electron Capture Detector and Gas Chromatography –Nitrogen Phosphorus Detector systems with capillary columns. The tested samples showed 100% contamination with low but measurable amounts of residues. Among the four chemical groups, the organophosphates were dominant followed by organochlorines, synthetic pyrethroids and carbamates. About 23% of the samples showed contamination with organophosphorous compounds above their respective MRL values.

Ntow (2008) assessed the accumulation of persistent organochlorine contaminants in milk and serum of farmers in Ghana. The study revealed concentrations of persistent organochlorines such as DDT and its metabolites, HCH isomers, HCB and Dieldrin in samples of human breastmilk and serum collected from vegetable farmers in Ghana in the year 2005. The levels of the pesticides in the milk samples were found to correlate positively with the age of the milk sample donors (Ntow, 2008).

In an earlier study (Ntow, 2001) organochlorine pesticide levels in a farming community in Ghana was evaluated. A total of 208 samples of water, sediment, tomato, and human breast milk were collected from the environs of Akomadan, a prominent vegetablefarming community in Ghana. Endosulfan sulphate was the most frequently occurring (78%) OC in water with a mean of 30.8μ g/L. Lindane was detected in 38 samples (76% of analysed samples). The concentration was highest in sediment for lindane (mean 3.2
μ g/kg) and least for β -endosulfan (mean 0.13 μ g/kg). Heptachlor epoxide was present at a quantifiable level in tomato (mean 1.65 μ g/kg fresh weight) and in sediment (mean 0.63 μ g/kg dry weight). HCB was detected in 55% and DDE in

85% of all samples analyzed. For milk samples, 95% indicated quantifiable amounts of HCB, whereas 80% showed DDE. The mean values of HCB and p, p-DDE in blood were $30\mu g/kg$ and $380\mu g/kg$, respectively. The mean values of HCB and p, p-DDE in milk were $40\mu g/kg$ fat (1.75 $\mu g/kg$ whole milk) and $490\mu g/kg$ fat (17.15 $\mu g/kg$ whole milk), respectively. The study confirmed that residues of some pesticides are present in areas of highly intensive agricultural production.



CHAPTER THREE

3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 STUDY AREA

The majority of pesticides used in Agriculture in Ghana are employed in the forest zones located in the Ashanti, Brong Ahafo, Western, and Eastern Regions of Ghana. Sunyani West District of the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana was chosen as a study area because it is a region noted for food production where crops are produced both for local consumption and for export. The District lies between latitude 7° 19'N and 7° 35'N and longitudes 2° 08' W and 2° 31' W. It has a total land area of 1,658.7 square kilometres. The climatic zone of Sunyani West District falls within the Wet Semi-Equatorial region and therefore has two rainy seasons in a year. Average annual rainfall is 170cm. The abundance of rainfall offers the District a comparative advantage in agricultural production and forestry (www.mofa.gov.gh., assessed 28-04-2015)

Sunyani West falls within the moist-semi deciduous forest vegetation zones of Ghana. The district is underlined by the Precambrian formation of rock believed to be rich in mineral deposits. Soils in the district fall into the Ochrosols group which is generally fertile and therefore supports the cultivation of agricultural produce. The topography of the District is generally undulating and has heights ranging from 700 feet (213.36 meters) along River Bisi basin to 1100 feet (335.28 meters) above sea level. The drainage is dendritic with several streams and rivers being seasonal. Below (Fig. 1) is a map showing the Sunyani West in the District context.

BADHE

W J SANE



Source: www.mofa.gov.gh (2015)

3.2 STUDY SUBJECTS

A survey was conducted in three communities within the District, regarding the use of pesticides by local farmers. Depending on the locality, types of vegetables grown and pesticide use history, the three communities within the district were selected for

NO

WJSANE

questionnaire administration. These Communities were Kwatire, Adantia and Odumase. A total of sixty eight farmers were randomly selected from these communities and were interviewed using a well-structured questionnaire with closed and open ended questions (Appendix 1). This was done to ascertain the types of pesticides most frequently used; the mode of application of such pesticides, their level of knowledge on the use of the pesticide and the frequency of application of the identified pesticides by the farmers on their farms. The questionnaire was pre-tested before being administered. Data were grouped under personal information and work history; and pesticide - use practices and management. The questionnaire was administered at farmers' homes, farms and farmers' association meetings. In all cases, the farmers were notified of the interview through their group leaders or fellow farmers. The study objectives were explained to the selected farmers and their consent to participate in the study was sought. The questions were translated into local and easily understandable languages during the questionnaire administration. Data from the survey were statistically analyzed using the Statistical Package for the Social Scientist (SPSS version 17). The results were presented in charts and tables with the values in percentages.

3.3 SAMPLE COLLECTION

Fresh carrots, cabbages and green pepper were bought from farmers fields in the three farming communities (Odumase, Adantia and Kwatire) during the months of January to April, 2014. These vegetables were bought directly from the farmers during harvest, from each farmer's field in each site. Codex Alimentarius (FAO/WHO, 1984) protocols for sampling and for the portions of commodities to be analysed were followed in the survey. Samples were immediately wrapped in aluminium foil that had already been cleaned with acetone, to prevent contamination. They were then placed in zip-lock bags and appropriately labelled with a unique sampling identity. The labelled samples were then

placed in ice chest containing ice and transported to the laboratory. They were then kept in a freezer at a temperature of about -20 °C prior to analysis. A total of

120 pieces of all three vegetables were obtained from the farmers' fields and subsampled into 30 samples for analysis.

		CT					
Table 1: Sampling sites of vegetables							
Vegetable	Site / Location	Number of Samples					
Daucus carota (carrot)	Odumase	3					
	Adantia	3					
	Kwatire	3					
Capsicum annum (green	Odumase	4					
pepper)	Kwatire	4					
	Adantia	4					
Brassica oleracea var	Adantia	3					
capitata (cabbage)	Kwatire	3					
	Odumase	3					
Total number of samples		30					

3.4 LABORATORY ANALYSIS

Laboratory analysis was carried out at the Nuclear Chemistry and Environmental Research Laboratory of the Ghana Atomic Energy Commission (GAEC), Kwabenya, WJSANE BAD

NO

Accra.

3.4.1Cleaning of Glassware

Prior to the analysis, glass wares for analysis were cleaned with 'Omo' detergent and rinsed with tap water. They were further rinsed with acetone and dried overnight in an oven at 150°C and stored in dust free cabinets until required.

3.4.2 Reagents

Analytical grade acetone, n-hexane (HPLC grade), sodium sulphate, pesticide grade ethyl acetate, activated charcoal, florisil (mesh size of 60-100 mesh) and sodium hydrogencarbonate were bought from a local chemical shop (Fregeosco Co. Ltd) in Accra who also obtained their supplies from CDH group in India and Germany.

3.4.3 Extraction

In the present study, the method used for the extraction and clean-up procedures was the EPA-method 3540C (US EPA, 1994). Each vegetable sample was chopped with a clean sharp knife on a clean (as described in sec. 3.4.1) chopping board. This was then blended in a Salton elite glass blender to obtain a homogenous representative sample. The knife, chopping board and blender were washed thoroughly with 'Omo' detergent and rinsed under running water to avoid cross contamination. A total of 30 composite samples from the three communities were analyzed. 20g of blended sample was weighed into an extraction jar, 20g of anhydrous sodium sulphate (Na₂SO₄) was added to reduce moisture content of the sample and 5g of sodium hydrogen carbonate (NaHCO₃) was added to neutralise the acid in the sample. Furthermore, 40 ml of ethyl acetate (CH₃COOCH₂CH₃) was added to the sample using a measuring cylinder. The mixture was sealed and sonicated for 20 minutes and the supernatant (extract) was decanted into a round bottomed flask using a funnel lined with filter paper and activated charcoal. Sonicating and decanting were repeated three times to ensure that enough extract was obtained. The

extract was evaporated in a Büchi RE-200 rotary vacuum evaporator at 40 0 C, to evaporate solvents into round bottomed flasks (Plates 1 and 2).



Plate 2: Evaporation of analytes with the Rotary Vacuum Evaporator

3.4.4 Clean-up

In order to remove any interfering substances co-extracted with the insecticide residues, the analyte was cleaned up as follows; 1.5 g of activated florisil was packed into a column

that had been plugged with glass wool; the column was further packed with 0.5g and 1.0 g of activated charcoal and sodium sulphate (Na₂SO₄) respectively; 10ml of ethyl acetate was used to condition the column prior to the clean- up; analyte was transferred onto the florisil column using a Pasteur pipette and allowed to elute (plate 3); the sample was evaporated to dryness using the Büchi RE-200 rotary vacuum evaporator; the dried residue for each sample was dissolved in 2 ml of ethyl acetate and this was repeated twice to obtain all the extract from the tube. Glass Pasteur pipette was then used to pick samples into 1.5 ml GC valves for analysis by Gas Chromatography (GC).



Plate 3: Cleanup of analytes

3.4.5 Quantification

The determination of the quantities of residues in the sample extracts was done by running a standard mixture of known concentration of insecticide and the response of the detector for each compound was ascertained. The area of the corresponding peak in the sample was compared with that of the standard. All analyses were carried out in triplicate and the mean concentrations computed accordingly.

3.4.6 Gas Chromatographic Analysis of Chlorinated Residues

The residues were analyzed by Shimadzu gas chromatograph, GC-2010 (Shimadzu cooperations, Japan), equipped with 63 Ni, electron capture detector that allows the detection of contaminants even at trace level concentrations. The GC conditions and the detector response were adjusted to match the relative retention time and response. The conditions for analysis were capillary column coated with ZB-5(30m x 0.25 mm, 0.25 µm film thickness). Carrier gas and make-up gas was nitrogen at a flow rate of 1.0 and 29.0 ml/min respectively. The temperature of injector and detector were set at 280°C and 300°C respectively. The oven temperature was programmed to 600°C for 2 minutes and at 1800 °C/min up to 3000 °C. The injection volume of the GC was 1.0 nL. The residues detected by the GC analysis were further confirmed by the analysis of the extract on two other columns of different polarities. The first column was coated with ZB-11 (methyl polysiloxane) and connected ECD as a detector. The conditions used for these columns were the same.

3.4.7 Quality Control Measures

The efficiency of the method was determined by recoveries of an internal standard. One sample was spiked with a 50μ L of 100.0 ng/ml internal standard (isodrin) and extracted under the same conditions as the analytes. To check for interferences, a blank sample containing no detectable compounds was analysed.

3.4.8 Statistical Analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to determine the significance of the differences in the means of the experimental data of organochlorine insecticide residues from the different locations. The analyses were executed by S. P. S. S. (version 17 for windows,

SANE

2007). Responses to the questionnaire were analysed using Microsoft Excel and a 90% statistical significance of differences was used.

KNUST

CHAPTER FOUR

4.0 RESULTS

4.1 FIELD SURVEY

4.1.1 Age group of Respondents

Figure 2 indicates that 53% of the respondents were between the ages of 31-40 years, 23% were between 41- 50 years, 17% were between 21 to 30 years and 7% were 51 to 60 years of age. This implies that all the respondents (farmers) were within the labour force age, that is, 18 to 60 years.



Fig. 2: Age group of Respondents

4.1.2Gender of Respondents

Of the total number of respondents, 60% were males whereas 40% of were females



Fig. 3: Gender of Respondents.

4.1.3 Educational Level of Respondents

The educational level of the farmers interviewed is presented in Figure 4. Thirty nine

(39) of the respondents (57.4%) have had basic education, twelve (12) respondents (17.6%) have had secondary education and the remaining twelve (17.6%) and no formal education, Two farmers (2.9%) have had post secondary education, and three (3) farmers representing 4.4% have the Middle School Leaving Certificate (MSLC), now junior high school (JHS).



Fig. 4: Educational level of Respondents

4.1.4Insecticides Used by Farmers

by rarmers
Active ingredient
Lambda Cyhalothrin
Lambda Cyhalothrin
Lambda +acetamipride
Emamectin benzoate
Chlopyriphos
Lambda Cyhalothrin
Imidacloprid
Endosulfan
Furaden
Actemiprid
Chloropyrifos – ethyl
Chlorpyrifos

Table 2: '	Types of	Insecticides	used by	Farmers
------------	----------	--------------	---------	----------------

14. Polythrine	Cypermethrin+profenetos
15. Cymethoate	Cymethoate
16. Lambda Super 2.5 EC	Lambda Cyhalothrin
17. Conti-halithrin 2.5 EC	Lambda Cyhalothrin
18. Bypel 1 (PrG V. Bt)	
19. Sunpyrifos	Chloropyrifos-ethyl
20. Warrior	
21. Actellic	Pyrimiplus methyl

Table 2 shows the various types of insecticides used by farmers to control insect pest in the production of carrots, green pepper and cabbage in the communities. A total of 21 types of insecticides were used by the farmers. The insecticides were identified by their trade names and their active ingredients.

4.1.5 Combination of Two or More Insecticides

Figure 5 shows that twenty six (26) farmers interviewed (38.2%) mixed two or three insecticides together for controlling insect pests on their farms. The remaining forty two (42) respondents (61.8%) used single insecticides for the control of insect pests. Farmers who do mix two or three pesticides, however, combine the chemicals without considering their effectiveness.





Fig. 5: Combination of two or more insecticides

4.1.6 Frequency of Insecticide Application in a Growing Season

Figure 6 depicts that 40% of the farmers applied chemicals three times in a growing season, 30% applied insecticides twice in a growing season, 20% applied once and 10% applied chemicals more than three times in a growing season.



Fig. 6: Frequency of Insecticide Application in a Growing Season

4.1.7 How Farmers Applied Insecticides

Majority of the farmers (93%) applied insecticides by spraying whereas 7% of the farmers applied insecticides by dipping.



Fig. 7: Mode of insecticide application

4.1.8 Understanding of Instructions on Insecticide Application Procedures Forty two (61.8%) of the farmers do not understand the instructions on insecticide labels on application procedures, even though some could read. They obtain their information from pesticide sellers, colleague farmers and others who depended on their own personal experiences; however, 26 of the farmers (38.2%) are able to read and understand instructions on pesticide application procedures (Fig. 8).



Fig. 8: Ability to Understand Instructions on Insecticide Labels

4.2 ORGANOCHLORINE INSCTICIDE RESIDUE ANALYSIS

The concentrations of the various residues in each sample are calculated in ng/g and presented in Tables 3 - 11.

*Values designated by asterisks are higher than the EU MRLs for the respective pesticide. (see MRLs in Table 12); ND = not detected; SD = standard deviation.



(Cupsicum unnum) sumples from orunnase								
	Odumase Farms							
Insecticides	A1	A2	A3	A4	Mean±SD			
alpha-HCH	0.165	ND	0.1255	0.1627	0.151±0.022			
hexachlorobenzene (HCB)	ND	ND	ND	ND	1			
beta-HCH	ND	ND	ND	ND	5			
gamma-HCH (lindane)	ND	ND	ND	ND	3/			
delta-HCH	ND	ND	ND	0.1952	0.195±0			
Heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	0.8489	0.849±0			
Aldrin	0.1912	0.1923	0.1867	0.1844	0.189±0.004			
Dieldrin	ND	ND	ND	ND	-			
Endrin	ND	ND	ND	ND	-			

(Capsicum annum) samples from Odumase

Cis-heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
trans-heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
cis-Chlordane	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
trans-Chlordane	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
Trans-Nonachlor	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
p,p-DDT	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
o,p-DDT	ND	ND	ND	0.3533	0.353±0
p,p-DDE	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
p,p-DDD	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
o,p-DDD	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
o,p-DDE	ND	ND	ND	ND	-
Mirex	ND	ND	ND	19.768*	19.768*±0

 Table 4: Detected Insecticide resiues (ngg⁻¹; fresh weight) in Carrot (Daucus carota) Samples from Odumase

124	Odumase Farms					
Insecticides	B1	B2	B3	Mean±SD		
alpha-HCH	0.1223	ND	1.39	0.756±0.896		
hexachlorobenzene (HCB)	ND	ND	ND	E/		
beta-HCH	ND	ND	ND			
gamma-HCH (lindane)	ND	ND	ND			
delta-HCH	0.1474	ND	0.1436	0.146±0.003		
Heptachlor	ND	1.993	3.0702	2.532±0.762		
Aldrin	0.1856	0.1888	0.201	0.192±0.008		

Dieldrin	ND	ND	ND	
Endrin	ND	ND	ND	
Cis-heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	
trans-heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	
cis-Chlordane	ND	ND	ND	
trans-Chlordane	ND	ND	ND	
Trans-Nonachlor	ND	ND	ND	
p,p-DDT	0.01	0.3847	ND	0.197±0.265
o,p-DDT	ND	ND	ND	
p,p-DDE	0.1715	ND	ND	0.175±0
p,p-DDD	ND	ND	ND	
o,p-DDD	ND	ND	ND	2
o,p-DDE	ND	ND	ND	7
Mirex	ND	19.7368*	ND	19.737*±0



	Odumase Farms					
Insecticides	C1	C2	C3	Mean±SD		
alpha-HCH	ND	0.1162	ND	0.116±0		
hexachlorobenzene (HCB)	ND	ND	ND			
beta-HCH	ND	ND	ND			
gamma-HCH (lindane)	ND	ND	ND			
delta-HCH	ND	ND	ND			
Heptachlor	ND	ND	ND			
Aldrin	ND	ND	0.2139	0.214±0		
Dieldrin	ND	0.1277	ND	0.128±0		
Endrin	ND	0.2542	ND	0.254±0		
Cis-heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	-		
trans-heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	¥		
cis-Chlordane	ND	ND	ND)		
trans-Chlordane	ND	ND	ND			
Trans-Nonachlor	ND	0.5785	0.2883	0.433±0.205		
p,p-DDT	ND	0.5167	0.3925	0.455±0.088		
o,p-DDT	ND	ND	ND	9		
p,p-DDE	ND	0.9438	ND	0.944±0		
p,p-DDD	ND	ND	ND			
o,p-DDD	ND	0.1142	ND	0.114±0		

5: Detected insecticide residues (ngg⁻¹; fresh weight) in Cabbage (*Brassica* oleracea var capitata) Samples from Odumase

Table

o,p-DDE	ND	ND	ND	
Mirex	15.0217*	19.91055*	ND	17.466*±3.457

A1, A2, A3, A4 are samples of green pepper collected from different farms at Odumase. Six (6) insecticide residues were detected in green pepper samples from farms at Odumase. Endrin, dieldrin and heptachlor epoxides were not detected in green pepper samples from Odumase. Mirex recorded the highest concentration of 19.768ngg⁻¹ which was above the maximum residue limits set by the EU for vegetables.

Heptachlor recorded a concentration of 0.8489ngg⁻¹ on farm 4. All values recorded except for mirex were below the EU MRLs set for green pepper (Table 3).

B1, B2, B3 are samples of carrot collected from different farms at Odumase. Seven (7) insecticide residues were detected in carrot samples from Odumase. Heptachlor was detected on samples from farms 2 and 3 with a maximum value of 3.0702ngg⁻¹. Mirex recorded a value of 19.7368ngg⁻¹ which is above the EU MRL value of 10ngg⁻¹ (Table 4).

C1, C2, C3 are samples of cabbage collected from different farms at Odumase. Nine (9) insecticide residues were detected in cabbage samples from Odumase farms. Farm 1 recorded a value of 15.0217ngg⁻¹ for mirex which is above the EU MRL value for cabbage. Farm 2 recorded a maximum residual concentration of 19.9106ngg⁻¹ of mirex and a minimum concentration of 0.1162nng⁻¹ of alpha-HCH (Table 5).

4.2.2 Levels of Insecticide Residues Found in Vegetables From Farms at Kwatire

Tables 6, 7 and 8 show different insecticide residues and their concentrations detected in green pepper, carrot and cabbage samples from farms at Kwatire.

Kwatire Farms						
Insecticides	D1	D2	D3	D4	Mean±SD	
alpha-HCH	0.1242	0.1389	0.1325	0.1191	0.129±0.009	
hexachlorobenzene (HCB)	ND	ND	ND	ND		
beta-HCH	ND	ND	ND	ND		
gamma-HCH (lindane)	0.0112	ND	0.01	ND	0.011±0.0008	
delta-HCH	0.2515	0.2091	0.1477	0.1548	0.191±0.049	
Heptachlor	14.8236*	1.0511	0.4312	ND	5.435±8.136	
Aldrin	0.2478	0.1891	0.1836	0.1916	0.203±0.030	
Dieldrin	ND	ND	ND	ND	V	
Endrin	ND	ND	ND	ND	l-	
Cis-heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	ND	5	
trans-heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	ND	1. S.	
cis-Chlordane	ND	ND	ND	ND		
trans-Chlordane	ND	ND	ND	ND		
Trans-Nonachlor	0.277	ND	ND	ND	0.277±0	
p,p-DDT	ND	ND	ND	ND		
o,p-DDT	ND	ND	ND	ND		

6: Detected Insecticide residues (ngg-1; fresh weight) in Green Pepper

(· · ·

			N I	
(Capsicum annum)	Samples	from H	Kwatire	

Table

p,p-DDE	ND	ND	ND	ND	
p,p-DDD	ND	ND	ND	ND	
o,p-DDD	ND	ND	ND	ND	
o,p-DDE	ND	ND	ND	ND	
Mirex	19.8779*	ND	ND	ND	*19.878±0

Table 7: Detected Insecticide residues (ngg⁻¹; fresh weight) in Carrot (*Daucus carota*) Samples from Kwatire

V	Kwatire Farms						
Insecticides	E1	E2	E3	Mean±SD			
alpha-HCH	0.1197	0.139	0.1213	0.127±0.011			
hexachlorobenzene (HCB)	ND	ND	ND				
beta-HCH	ND	ND	ND	9			
gamma-HCH (lindane)	ND	ND	ND				
delta-HCH	ND	0.151	0.1794	0.165±0.020			
Heptachlor	ND	2.4737	ND	2.474±0			
Aldrin	0.1877	0.1847	0.1951	0.189±0.005			
Dieldrin	ND	ND	ND	No.			
Endrin	ND	ND	ND	~			
Cis-heptachlor	ND	ND	ND				
trans-heptachlor	ND	ND	ND				
cis-Chlordane	ND	ND	ND				
trans-Chlordane	ND	ND	ND				

Trans-Nonachlor	ND	ND	ND	
p,p-DDT	0.4175	ND	ND	0.418±0
o,p-DDT	ND	ND	ND	
p,p-DDE	ND	ND	ND	
p,p-DDD	ND	ND	ND	
o,p-DDD	ND	ND	ND	
o,p-DDE	ND	ND	ND	
Mirex	19.8227*	ND	ND	19.823*±0

8: Detected Insecticide residues (ngg⁻¹; fresh weight) in Cabbage (*Brassica* oleracea var capitata) samples from Kwatire

	Kwatire Farms				
Insecticides	F1	F2	F3	Mean±SD	
alpha-HCH	0.133	ND	0.136	0.135±0.002	
hexachlorobenzene (HCB)	ND	ND	ND	/	
beta-HCH	ND	ND	ND).	
gamma-HCH (lindane)	ND	ND	ND		
delta-HCH	0.1463	ND	0.14	0.143±0.004	
Heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	\sim	
Aldrin	0.1983	0.193	ND	0.196±0.004	
Dieldrin	ND	0.2476	ND	0.248±0	
Endrin	ND	0.4782	ND	0.478±0	
Cis-heptachlor	ND	ND	ND		

Table

trans-heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	
cis-Chlordane	ND	ND	ND	
trans-Chlordane	ND	ND	ND	
Trans-Nonachlor	0.4012	1.0196	0.2812	0.567±0.396
p,p-DDT	ND	0.4219	ND	0.422±0
o,p-DDT	ND	ND	ND	
p,p-DDE	0.2921	0.6568	0.1884	0.379±0.246
p,p-DDD	ND	0.0125	ND	0.013±0
o,p-DDD	ND	0.2818	ND	0.282±0
o,p-DDE	ND	ND	ND	
Mirex	ND	ND	20.0491	20.049±0

D1, D2, D3 and D4 were samples of green pepper collected from different farms at Kwatire. Seven (7) insecticide residues were detected in green pepper samples from farms at Kwatire. Heptachlor recorded a value of 14.8236ngg⁻¹ which was above the EU MRLs. Alpha-HCH was detected in samples from all four farms at a minimum concentration of 0.1191ngg⁻¹ and a maximum concentration of 0.1389ngg⁻¹. DDT was not detected in the samples analyzed. A concentration of 19.8779ngg⁻¹ of mirex was recorded which is above the EU MRLs (Table 6).

Table 7 shows the results for samples of carrots from farms at Kwatire. E1, E2, E3 were samples of carrot collected from different farms at Kwatire. Alpha- HCH and aldrin were detected in carrot samples from all three (3) farms in Kwatire but at concentrations below the EU MRLs (Table 12). The maximum concentration of mirex residue in the carrot samples from Kwatire was 19.8227ngg⁻¹. Heptachlor recorded a value of 2.4737ngg⁻¹

which was below the maximum residue limit for carrots. A total of six pesticide residues were detected in the carrot samples from Kwatire.

Eleven (11) pesticide residues were detected in the cabbage samples analyzed from Kwatire. Samples were represented with F1, F2 and F3. Concentrations exceeding the EU MRL values occurred only for mirex (20.0491ngg⁻¹). Heptachlor and its epoxides were not detected in the cabbage samples. However, Aldrin, dieldrin, endrin, p,p-DDE, p,p-DDD and o,p-DDD were detected in the cabbage samples (Table 8).

4.2.3 Levels of Insecticide Residues Found In Vegetables From Farms at Adantia Table 9, 10 and 11 represents results of pesticide concentrations detected in the vegetable samples from Adantia farms.



TableDetected insec

9: ticide residues (ngg ⁻¹	; fresh weight)	in Green I	Pepper sample	s (<i>Capsicum</i>
annum) from Adantia				

	Adantia Farms					
Insecticides	G1	G2	G3	G4	Mean±SD	
alpha-HCH	ND	0.1346	0.1139	0.116	0.122±0.011	
hexachlorobenzene (HCB)	ND	ND	ND	ND		
beta-HCH	ND	ND	ND	ND		
gamma-HCH (lindane)	ND	0.1284	ND	ND	0.128±0	
delta-HCH	0.1487	0.567	ND	ND	0.358±0.296	
Heptachlor	ND	80.9474*	ND	ND	80.947±0	
Aldrin	ND	0.4982	ND	ND	0.498±0	
Dieldrin	ND	ND	ND	0.0342	0.034±0	
Endrin	ND	ND	ND	ND	3	
Cis-heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	0.0235	0.024±0	
trans-heptachlor	ND	0.2562	ND	ND	0.256±0	
cis-Chlordane	ND	ND	ND	ND		
trans-Chlordane	ND	0.224	ND	ND	0.244±0	
Trans-Nonachlor	ND	ND	ND	0.1095	0.110±0	
p,p-DDT	ND	ND	ND	ND		
o,p-DDT	ND	ND	ND	ND		
p,p-DDE	ND	ND	ND	ND		
p,p-DDD	ND	ND	ND	ND		
o,p-DDD	ND	ND	ND	ND		

TableDetected insec

o,p-DDE	ND	ND	ND	ND	
Mirex	ND	ND	20.0531*	18.0901*	19.072±1.388

10:

ticide residues (ngg⁻¹; fresh weight) in Carrot (Daucus

carota) samples from Adantia

	Adantia Farms					
Insecticides	F1	F2	F3	Mean±SD		
Alpha - HCH	ND	ND	0.142	0.142±0		
hexachlorobenzene (HCB)	ND	ND	ND			
Beta - HCH	ND	ND	ND			
Gamma - HCH (lindane)	ND	ND	ND			
Delta - HCH	ND	ND	0.0115	0.012±0		
Heptachlor	0.7626	ND	1.0342	0.898±0.192		
Aldrin	0.2198	ND	0.0463	0.133±0.123		
Dieldrin	ND	ND	ND			
Endrin	0.1662	ND	ND	0.166±0		
Cis - heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	12		
Trans - heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	July 1		
Cis - Chlordane	ND	ND	ND			
Trans - Chlordane	ND	ND	ND			
Trans - Nonachlor	0.3649	ND	ND	0.365±0		
p,p - DDT	0.5344	0.3814	0.2981	0.405±0.120		
o,p - DDT	ND	ND	ND			

Table Detected liber				
p,p - DDE	ND	ND	ND	
p,p - DDD	ND	ND	ND	
o,p - DDD	ND	ND	ND	
o,p - DDE	ND	ND	ND	
Mirex	19.9765*	ND	12.0731*	16.025*±5.589

Table **Detected** insec

ticide residues (ngg⁻¹; fresh weight) in Cabbage (Brassica 11:

oleracea var capitata) samples from A <mark>dant</mark> ia							
	Adantia Farms						
Insecticides	J1	J2	J3	Mean±SD			
Alpha - HCH	0.127	0.1162	ND	0.122±0.008			
hexachlorobenzene (HCB)	ND	ND	ND				
Beta - HCH	ND	ND	ND	-7			
Gamma - HCH (lindane)	ND	ND	ND	1			
Delta - HCH	0.0276	0.038	ND	0.033±0.007			
Heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	S			
Aldrin	ND	ND	0.0314	0.031±0			
Dieldrin	ND	0.1576	ND	0.158±0			
Endrin	ND	0.0436	ND	0.044±0			
Cis - heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	IN			
Trans - heptachlor	ND	ND	ND	5			
Cis - Chlordane	ND	ND	ND				
Trans - Chlordane	ND	ND	ND				
Trans - Nonachlor	ND	0.6985	0.1467	0.423±0.390			
p,p - DDT	ND	0.029	0.045	0.037±0.011			
o,p - DDT	ND	ND	ND				
p,p - DDE	ND	0.9438	ND	0.944±0			

Table Detected filsee				
p,p - DDD	ND	ND	ND	
o,p - DDD	ND	0.113	ND	0.113±0
o,p - DDE	ND	ND	ND	
Mirex	5.735	ND	ND	5.735±0

TableDetected insec

G1, G2, G3 and G4 were samples of green pepper collected from different farms at Adantia. Eleven (11) insecticide residues were detected in the green pepper samples analyzed. Mirex recorded the maximum pesticide residue concentration of 20.0531ngg¹ whereas a minimum value 0.1139ngg⁻¹ was recorded for alpha - HCH. Three insecticide residues exceeded the MRL values set by the EU for green pepper (Table 9). H1, H2, H3 were samples of carrot collected from different farms at Adantia and each value is an average of three determinations. Eight (8) insecticide residues were detected in carrot samples from farms at Adantia, out of twenty one (21) organochlorine residues anlysed. Heptachlor recorded a minimum concentration of 0.7626ngg⁻¹ and a



maximum concentration of 1.034ngg⁻¹. Two insecticide residues exceeded the EU MRLs that were set for mirex in the carrot samples (Table 10).

J1, J2, J3 were samples collected from different farms at Adantia. Ten (10) insecticide residues were detected in cabbage samples from Adantia but all were below the EU MRLs. Mirex recorded a maximum concentration of 5.735 ngg⁻ and a minimum concentration of 0.0436ngg⁻¹ of endrin (Table 11).

4.2.4 Insecticide Residues in Green Pepper, Carrot and Cabbage in the Study

Area

Figs. 9, 10 and 11 indicate that eleven (11) organochlorine insecticide residues were detected in the Green pepper samples, nine (9) organochlorine pesticide residues were detected in the Carrot samples and eleven (11) organochlorine insecticide residues were detected in the Cabbage samples respectively.



Fig. 9: Comparison of the frequency of occurrence of various insecticide residues in Green Pepper (*Capsicum annum*) in the three study locations

Adantia recorded eleven (11) different pesticide residues in the green pepper samples but at lower frequencies. The frequency of occurrences of heptachlor, delta-HCH, lindane and alpha-HCH were high among samples collected from Kwatire (Fig. 9).





Samples of carrot obtained from Odumase recorded higher frequencies in the occurrence of insecticide residues. Aldrin and alpha-HCH occurred at higher frequencies in samples obtained from both Odumase and Kwatire. A total of nine (9) different insecticide residues were detected in all carrot samples analyzed (Fig. 10). BADW

WJSANE





Samples of cabbage (*Brassica oleracea var capitata*) from Kwatire recorded higher frequency of occurrences of pesticide residues. Trans-nonachlor and p.p-DDE were detected in samples from all three different farms in Kwatire. In all, eleven (11) different insecticide residues were detected in the cabbage samples obtained from Kwatire. Nine (9) different insecticide residues were however detected in cabbage sample obtained from Odumase, but at comparatively lower frequency of occurrences (Fig 10).

Table 12: Number and percentage of insecticide residues in vegetable samples with exceeding MRL values in all three locations

20

Insecticides	Contaminated samples with each insecticide	MRL	Samples that violated MRL values of EU			
		(ng/g)				

	carrot n %		cabbage		Green pepper			Carrots		Cabbage		G	Green	
			n	%	n	%		n	%	n	%	pe	pper	
												n	%	
Alpha-HCH	6	54	5	45	9	75	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Delta-HCH	5	45	4	36	7	58.3	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Aldrin	8	72	4	36	9	75	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Endrin	1	9	3	27	0	0	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Dieldrin	0	0.0	3	27	1	8.3	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Lindane	0	0.0	0	0	3	25	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Heptachlor	5	45	0	0	5	41.7	10	0	0	0	0	2	16	
Trans-heptachlor	0	0.0	0	0	2	16.7	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Cis- heptachlor	0	0.0	0	0	1	8.3	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Trans- nonachlor	1	9	7	63	2	16.7	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Trans- chlordane	0	0.0	0	0	1	8.3	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	
p,p-DDT	6	54	5	45	0	0.0	50	0	0	0	0	0	0	
p,p-DDE	1	9	5	45	0	0.0	50	0	0	0	0	0	0	
p,p-DDD	0	0.0	1	9	0	0.0	50	0	0	0	0	0	0	
o,p-DDD	0	0.0	3	27	0	0.0	50	0	0	0	0	0	0	
o,p-DDT	P	0.0	11	0	1	8.3	50	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Mirex	4	36	4	36	4	33.3	10	4	44	3	33	4	33	

n = number of samples contaminated

Table 13: Overall percent total insecticide residues in	Vegetable samples from
Sunvani West District	BA

Scientific Name	English Name	No. of Samples	% with one or
	SANE	1	more residues
Daucus carota	Carrot	10	38
Capsicm annum	Green Pepper	10	28

Incidence of insecticide residues in the vegetable samples analyzed are presented in Table 13. In all, 30 samples of vegetables were collected for insecticide analysis. Overall per cent total insecticide residues found in carrot, lettuce and cabbage samples were 38%, 28% and 34%, respectively.

CHAPTER FIVE

5.0 DISCUSSION

5.1 SEX AND AGE OF RESPONDENTS

Vegetable production in the three communities in the district was dominated by males between the ages of twenty – one (21) and sixty (60) years. This was so because vegetable production is laborious and needs more care with frequent spraying of insecticides to control insect pests.

5.2 EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND OF RESPONDENTS

The study revealed 57.4% of the farmers have had some basic education with the remaining (42.6%) either having secondary education (17.6%), Post secondary education (2.9%) or a Middle School Leaving Certificate (4.4%). This means that majority of the farmers could read the instructions and warnings on pesticide containers, but may not fully understand these instructions very well. The farmers might apply these chemicals at concentrations which may be hazardous to both plants and animals. Poor interactions between farmers and the agricultural extension officers might have contributed to this situation. In the absence of such effective interactions, the farmers mostly rely on information from the agro- chemical sellers, colleague farmers and relatives for instructions in the choice and application of the pesticides. The knowledge from this source may not be any better than that of the receiving farmer. This accounted for insecticide abuse as indicated by the farmers, resulting from ignorance or their lack of knowledge. The field survey however, revealed that both illiterate and literate farmers do take precautionary measures during spraying.

5.3 TYPES OF PESTICIDES USED BY FARMERS

The study showed that the choice of specific pesticides by farmers mostly depended on their availability on the market and not their efficacy or safety. Some of the pesticides used by the farmers were WHO/EPA category II insecticides banned for use in the production of crops by the European Union (EU) and Japan (Bateman, 2010). These chemicals are persistent in the environment and can bio-accumulate in the tissues of both plants and animals. Some of the pesticides used by the farmers are not recommended for the control of pests on vegetables. These findings agree with an earlier study by Menlah (2008) that although the organochlorines are banned from importation, sales and use in Ghana, there was evidence of their continued usage and presence in the ecosystem. In a study to analyze pesticides and pathogen contamination of vegetables in Ghana's urban markets, Amoah *et al.*,(2006) documented that chlorpyrifos (Dursban) was detected on 78% of lettuce, Lindane on 31%, endosulfan on 36%, Lambda cyhalothrin (Karate) on 11% and DDT on 36%. Similar work already done in some farming communities in the Ashanti Region of Ghana and some other countries indicated the presence of organochlorine insecticide residues in fish (Osafo and Frempong, 1998), vegetables, water, sediments, mother's milk, and blood samples

(Menlah, 2008).

5.4 COMBINATION OF TWO OR MORE CHEMICALS

Over thirty – eight percent (38.2%) of the respondents mixed two or more chemicals to control pests on their farms. 'Poison' which was later discovered as DDT was normally mixed with other insecticides to ensure very effective control of insect pests on their farms. This was done without regard to the health implications on humans and animals. Majority of the respondents (61.8%), however did not mix the insecticides but applied them as they were on their crops. Some of the farmers sometimes violated the instructions on the insecticide labels by applying more or less depending on the severity of the pests, or the soil or vegetation type.

5.5 MODE AND FREQUENCY OF APPLICATION OF PESTICIDES

Farmers mostly applied chemicals by spraying with the knapsack sprayer, which was considered one of the most effective modes of chemical application. The frequency of spraying however depended on the type of chemical, severity of insect infestation and the dosage of pesticide used. Forty percent of the respondents applied the pesticides twice
in a growing season which may last for a period of three to four months. Only ten percent (10%) of the farmers applied the pesticides more than three times in a growing season and this was due to severe insect infestation.

5.6 ORGANOCHLORINE INSECTICIDE RESIDUES IN VEGETABLE SAMPLES

The results obtained indicated that insecticide residues were indeed present in some of the vegetable samples analysed from all three communities studied. Analysis of twenty one (21) organochlorine insecticide residue levels in the vegetable samples indicated that Heptachlor and Mirex, had residue levels, which were higher than the FAO/WHO (1995) Guideline value of 10ng/g. The results further showed that other organochlorine insecticides such as Alpha HCH, Gamma BHC (Lindane), Delta HCH, DDT, DDE, Endrin and Dieldrin, were present, but all were below the FAO/WHO (1995) Guideline value of 10ng/g. Organochlorine insecticides are banned for vegetable production in Ghana, therefore, detection of these organochlorine pesticide residues in some of the vegetable samples indicated misuse of agrochemicals among the farmers in the study area. Work already done in some farming communities in the Ashanti Region of Ghana and some other countries indicated the presence of organochlorine pesticide residue in fish (Osafo and Frimpong, 1998), vegetables, water sediments, mother's milk and blood samples (Ntow, 2001).

Since these chemicals are toxic to living organisms, increased accumulation in the food chain may pose serious health hazards to the general populace. Previous work done by Gerken, *et al.* (2001) suggested that organochlorine pesticides are widely used by farmers because of their effectiveness and their broad spectrum activity. Lindane (Gamma BHC) is widely used in Ghana in cocoa plantations, on vegetable farms and for the control of

stem borers in maize. Endosulfan, marketed as Thiodan, is widely used in cotton growing areas on vegetable farms and on coffee plantations. Its presence could be from the soil as a result of past activities on the land as well as water used for irrigation as these were not tested.

Organochlorines are known to persist longer in the environment (D'Mello, 2003). This was evident in the presence of residue concentrations in seventeen out of twenty one organochlorine insecticide residues analyzed for. Heptachlor tends to stay in the soil for long periods of time. One study found heptachlor epoxide in crops that were grown in heptachlor-treated soil 15 years earlier. One can be exposed to heptachlor and its epoxides by eating these crops (ATSDR, 1993). Heptachlor has been shown to cause cancer in laboratory animals when exposed at high levels over their lifetimes. This may increase the risk of cancer in humans who are exposed for a long time (Udeh, 2004).

The concentrations detected in this work were lower compared to those of similar works done elsewhere in Ghana. For example, Essumang *et al.* (2008) reported that the concentrations of insecticides in tomatoes from Ghana ranged between 0.03 to 10.76 mg/kg (or 30 to 10760 µg/kg). The low levels of the organochlorines in this work could be due to minimal misuse of these pesticides in the study area as a result of their ban from agricultural use. Although the levels were generally lower than those of similar works, the results showed that organochlorine insecticides are still found in the environment, despite the fact that they have been banned from use in Ghana (EPA, 2008). The presence of these pesticides in the environment years after their ban could be due to their ability to persist in the environment. Persistency is defined as a half-life greater than two months in water or six months in soil and sediment. These chemicals are difficult to degrade into less hazardous substances in the environment. They are lipophilic compounds that tend to bioaccumulate in fatty tissues through the food chain. These

pesticides are water insoluble and semi-volatile, enabling their entry into the atmosphere and transported over long distances globally, mainly by air mass movements. They can reach polar or high mountainous regions and are effectively deposited in cold regions by snow through the phenomenon of cold condensation and global distillation (Wania and Mackay, 1995).

Their detection also indicates that some Ghanaian farmers still use these agrochemicals illegally. Farmers prefer the organochlorine pesticides because they are relatively cheap and very effective (Essumang *et al.*, 2008). This study, therefore, suggests the possibility of sporadic use of these insecticides for agriculture or mainly due to the past extensive use of these insecticides for agriculture in Ghana as it has been banned for over a decade ago. These findings corroborate the findings of Nakata *et al.* (2002) who found elevated levels of organochlorine pesticide residues in fruits and vegetables collected from Shanghai and Yixing, China. Similarly, in an investigation carried out by Hura (1999), by monitoring organochlorine residues in fruits and vegetables in

Eastern Romania, it was concluded that organochlorine pesticides were found in all analyzed samples. A similar research conducted by Mukherjee *et al.* (2011) in West Bengal, India, to access the level of organochlorine pesticide residues in vegetables revealed that, the concentration of OCPs was ranged between, $<0.01-65.07 \mu g/kg$ with average of 9.67±2.34 µg/kg (wet wt.).

Table 12 shows that with the exception of Heptachlor in green pepper samples from Adantia and Kwatire, and Mirex which was detected in almost all the samples, all the seventeen organochlorine insecticides detected were below the UK/EC MRLs. This means that carrots, cabbage and green pepper from these three communities in the Sunyani West District of the Brong Ahafo Region of Ghana posed minimal health risk to consumers and, therefore, are safe for consumption. It is important to note that, the effect of an insecticide on human health does not depend only on the quantity of the insecticide accumulated. It also depends on the duration and frequency of exposure and the health of the person at the time of the exposure (Karalliedde *et al.*, 2003). Therefore, even though the levels were lower than the UK/EC MRLs, there is still a cause for concern. This is because consumers who frequently consume these vegetables may have these organochlorines accumulating in their bodies. Besides, consumers who already have other sources of exposure such as drinking water and meat will suffer the cumulative effect of these ubiquitous insecticides.

The results of the present study are comparable to those of other studies. For example, Darko and Acquaah and Darko (2007) found that the levels of organochlorines in meat from the Kumasi and Buoho abattoirs were lower than the maximum limits set by FAO/WHO. Adeyeye and Osibanjo (1999) found that residue levels of organochlorine pesticides in raw fruits, vegetables and tubers from markets in Nigeria were generally low and none were above the FAO's maximum residue limits. In a similar study,

Usman *et al.* (2009) found that all the marketed fruits and vegetables sampled from Lahore, Parksitan had residue levels below the maximum residue limit (MRL) set by WHO.

The insecticide residue levels detected in the present study were lower than those found in vegetables from three major markets in Ghana (Amoah *et al.*, 2006) which exceeded the MRLs for consumption. In a similar study by Odhiambo *et al.* (2007), the organochlorine residues detected in vegetables exceeded the Chinese Extraneous Maximum Residue Limit of 50ng/g (50µg/kg) for DDTs in vegetables.

The detection of the breakdown products of DDT (DDE and DDD) was an indication of photochemical degradation of the DDT (Wandiga, 1995). The low level of technical

DDT might be due to De-hydrochlorination and/or photo-degradation to form the metabolite form of DDE (Bempah and Donkor, 2011). The results corroborate the findings of Abou-Arab and Abou Donia (2001) who detected levels of DDT and its derivatives at levels ranging from 0.009 to 0.116 mg/kg and mean value of 0.05 mg/kg in the West African city farms (Manirakiza *et al.*, 2003). The low level of endrin may likely be due to its susceptibility to volatilization, photo-degradation, and heat to form metabolites of endrin (Fan and Alexeeff, 1999).

In all the three communities the average concentration of heptachlor was higher than that of heptachlor epoxide. For example, the average concentration of heptachlor in green pepper from Kwatire was 14.8236ng/g while trans-heptachlor epoxide and cisheptachlor epoxide were not detected at all. Heptachlor undergoes both biological and chemical transformation to heptachlor epoxide and other degradation products in the environment. Heptachlor epoxide degrades more slowly and, as a result, is more persistent than heptachlor (ATSDR 2005a). Therefore, the higher concentrations of heptachlor than heptachlor epoxide indicate that this insecticide has been used recently. The detection of the Mirex, Heptachlor, HCHs and DDTs at appreciable levels is worrisome, since they are among the organochlorines listed by the Stockholm

Convention as persistent organic pollutants. The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has classified HCH (all isomers) as possible human carcinogens. Longterm exposure to α -HCH, β -HCH, γ -HCH, or technical-grade HCH has been reported to result in liver cancer. It can also result in blood disorders, dizziness, headache and possible changes in the levels of sex hormones in the blood (IARC, 2001; ATSDR, 2005b).

Statistical analysis showed no significant difference in the mean concentrations of all the organochlorine residues among the varieties (p > 0.01) as shown in appendices 6 - 9. This could be because the cuticle of fruits limits the loss of substances from the fruits internal tissues, protects the fruits against physical, chemical, and biological attacks and protects the fruits against the external environment while the fruit is on the plant as well as after harvest (Antonio *et al.*, 2005). Appendices 6 - 9, with reference to all Tables comparing organochlorines by location shows that statistically, there were no significant differences in the mean concentrations of all the organochlorine residues among the sampling locations.

CHAPTER SIX

6.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

6.1 CONCLUSION

The study was carried out in two phases; a field survey and laboratory analysis. The result of the field survey showed that twenty one (21) different insecticides were used by the vegetable farmers sampled to control insect pests on vegetable crops in the Sunyani West District of the Brong Ahafo region of Ghana. The field survey also indicated that there was misuse and improper combinations of insecticides to control insect pests, since majority of the farmers interviewed have up to basic education only.

The second phase was a laboratory analysis of the vegetable samples from the sampled farms. The laboratory analysis revealed the presence of banned organochlorine pesticides in vegetable samples analyzed. The average levels of organochlorine residues in the vegetables sampled in this study were, however, generally below the EU MRLs, with the exception of mirex and heptachlor of which concentrations were quite high (20.0531 ng/g and 14.8236 ng/g respectively), posing a potential health risk to vegetable consumers in the Sunyani West District. However, because of their lipid solubility and resistance to metabolism, they can bioaccumulate in human tissues of consumers. So, chronic exposure could pose health problems. The results of the study also revealed the misuse of insecticides. Although the concentrations are generally low, the study showed that the organochlorine insecticides are still being used despite the fact that they have been banned from use in Ghana. Basic reasons for the use of the restricted pesticides could be attributed to their wide spectrum of activity and ready availability at low cost.

6.2 RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on the results from the study, the following recommendations are made;

- Educative and informative programmes should be organised by stakeholders such as the Ministry of Food and Agriculture, EPA, etc, for the farmers and the general public at large to sensitize them against the illegal use of banned chemicals, their impacts on human health as well as the environment.
- 2. Extension officers must render their services readily to the farmers and chemical sellers to avoid misappropriate use of pesticides.
- 3. Stakeholders such as the Ministry of Food and Agriculture, EPA and Ghana Association of Agro Input dealers should be resourced and motivated to combat the importation and smuggling of banned pesticides into the country.
- 4. EPA must ensure the enforcement of the laws banning the use of

organochlorine insecticides.

5. Constant monitoring and further research should be conducted to determine organochlorine insecticide residues in the study area and beyond.



- ACAT and Commonweal (2012). Factsheet on Toxic chemicals for the Mind, Disrupted Biomonitoring Project.
- Adeyeye, A. and Osibanjo, O (1999). Residues of organochlorine pesticides in fruits, vegetables and tubers from Nigerian markets. *Sci. Total Environ.*, 231: 227-233.
- Agarwal, H. C.; Singh, M. S. and Sherma, V. B. (1994). Fate of parathion in soil under subtropical field conditions. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health*. B 29 (1): 189-194
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (1993). Toxic substances portal (HCH) http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/substances/toxsubstance.asp?toxid=138 (accessed 2012, April 20).
- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) (2005a). Toxicological profile for heptachlor. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Atlanta, Georgia.

- Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) (2005b): Toxicological Profile for Alpha-, Beta-, Gamma-, and Delta- Hexachlorocyclohexane (Update). Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Public Health and Human Services, Public Health Service.
- Amoah, P., Drechsel P., Abaidoo, R. C. and Ntow, W. J., (2006). Pesticide and pathogen contamination of vegetables in Ghanas urban markets. *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.*, 50, 1–6.
- Anderson, H.R., Vinggard, A.M., Rasmussen, T.H., Gjemadsen, I.M. and BonefeldJorrgensen, E.C. (2000). Effects of currently used pesticides in Assays for estrogenicity, and rogenity and aromatase activity *in-vitro Toxicol. Appl Pharmacol 179, 1-12.*
- Ansari, M.T., Iqbal, Z., Ahma D.B., 1997. Organochlorine pesticide residues in human blood in the population of multan (pakistan). Pak. *J. Pharm. Sci.* 10, 19-28.
- Antonio, J., Matas, G. P., Jesu's, C. and Antonio, H. (2005): Relative humidity and temperature modify the mechanical properties of isolated tomato fruit cuticles.
 American Journal of Botany 92(3): 462–468.
- Asenso-Okyere, K., Davis, K. and Aredo, D. (2008) "Advancing Agriculture in Developing Countries through Knowledge and Innovation." International Food Policy Institute.
- Balint, S.Z. and Gyorfi, L. (1978) Abstracts, 4th International Congress of Pesticide Chemistry. Zurich, Switzerland

SANE

Bassil, K.L., Vakil C., Sanborn, M., Cole, D.C., Kaur, J.S. and Kerr K.J. (2007). Cancer health effects of pesticides: systematic review. *Cancer Family Physician* 53(10): 1704–11. PMID 17934034.

- Bateman, R., (2009). Pesticide use in cocoa, A guide for Training Administrative and Research Staff.
- Bateman, R., (2010). Pesticide use in cocoa, A guide for Training Administrative and Research Staff.
- Battu, R.S., Singh, B., Kang, B.K., and Joia B.S., (2005) Risk Assessment through dietary intake of total diet contaminated with pesticides residue in Punjab, India, 1999-2002. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 62 (1): 132-139.
- Bempah, C.K, Buah Kwofie, A., Denutsui D., Asomaning J. and Osei Tutu, A. (2011).
 Monitoring of Pesticide Residues in Fruits and Vegetables and Related Health
 Risk Assessment in Kumasi Metropolis, Ghana. Research Journal of
 Environmental and Earth Sciences 3(6): 761 771.
- Bempah, C.K. and Donkor, A.K., (2011). Pesticide residues in fruits at the market level in Accra Metropolis, Ghana, a preliminary study. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* 175:551-561.
- Bempah, C.K., Donkor, A.K., Yeboah, P.O., Dubey, B. and Osei-Fosu. P. (2011). A preliminary assessment of consumer's exposure to organochlorine pesticides in fruits and vegetables and the potential health risk in Accra Metropolis, Ghana. *Food Chem.* 128:1058-1065.
- Codex Alimentarius (2000). Food Standards Programme. Pesticide residues in food. Methods of analysis and sampling. 2000. Volume 2A Part 1. World Health Organization.
- Cohen, S.Z.. Eiden, C. and Lober, M.N. (1986). Monitoring groundwater for pesticides.
 In: Evaluation of pesticides in ground water (edited by Garner W.Y. et al.). pp 170-196. ACS symp. Ser. 315, Am. Chem. Soc, Washington D.C
- Cook, J., Bechett, M. P., Reliford, B., Hammock, W. and Engel, M. (1999). Multiresidue analysis of pesticides in fresh fruits and vegetables using procedures developed by

the Florida Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services. *JAOAC* 82: 1419-1435

- D'Mello, J.P.F. (2003). Food Safety: Contaminants and Toxins. CABI Publishing. Wallingford Oxfordshire, UK. Pp 91 – 94.
- Acquaah, S. and Darko, G. (2007). Levels of organochlorine pesticide residues in meat. *Int. J. Environ. Sci. Tech.*, 4 (4), 521-524.
- Dikshith, T.S.S., Kumar, S.N., Tandon, G.S., Raizada, R.B. and Ray, P.K. (1989).
 Pesticide residues in edible oils and oil seeds. *Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 42: 50-56
- Dinham, B., (2003). Growing vegetables in developing countries for local urban population and export market: Problem Confronting small scale producers. *Pesticides Management Science*, 59: 591 – 596.
- Dua, V.K., Pant, C.S., Sherma, V.P. and Pathak, G.K. (1996). Deteremination of HCH and DDT in finger-prick whole blood dried on filter paper and its field application for monitoring concentration in blood. *Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 56 (1): 50-57
- Ejobi, F., Kanja, L. W., Kyule, M. N., Muller, P., Kruger, J. and Latigo, A.A. R. (1996).
 Organochlorine pesticide residues in mother's milk in Uganda. *Bull Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 56, 873-880.
- EPA (2008). Ban of some agrochemicals in Ghana. (Environmenta Protection AgencyGhana). In: Pesticides: Evaluation of Environmental Pollution. Pp. 373.

EPA Act 490 (1994). Environmental Protection Agency, Ghana. Pp. 30

Essumang, D. K., Dodoo, D. K., Adokoh, C. K. and Fumador, F. A. (2008). Analysis of some pesticide residues in tomatoes in Ghana. *Human and ecological risk assessment*, 14, (4), 796-806.

- EU Pesticides Database (2012). <u>http://ec.europa.eu/sanco_pesticides/public/index</u> cfmevent=substance.selection (accessed 12 July 2013).
- Fan, M.A., and Alexeeff, G.V., (1999). Public Health Goal for Endrin in Drinking Water.
 Office of Environmental Health and Hazard Assessment. Environmental
 Protection Agency, California, pp: 5-6
- FAO/WHO (1995). Pesticide residues in food 1994. Report of the Joint Meeting of the FAO Panel of Experts on Pesticide Residues in Food and the Environment and WHO Toxicological and Environmental Core Assessment Groups. Rome, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations Plant Production and Protection. Paper 127.
 - Fernandez-Alba, A.R.; Tejedor, A.; Aguera, A.; Contreras, M. and Garrido, J. (2000). Determination of Imidacloprid and Benzimidazole residues in fruits and vegetables by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry after ethyl acetate multiresidue extraction. J. AOAV 83:748-75.
 - Ferreira, J.R., Faleao, M.M. and Tainha, A. (1987). Residues of Dimethoate and Omethoate in peaches and apples following repeated applications of Dimethoate. J. Agric. Food Chem. 35: 506-508
 - Fianko, J.R., Donkor, A., Lowor, S.T. and Yeboah, P.O (2011). Agrochemicals and the Ghanaian Environment, a Review. *Journal of Environmental Protection* 2: 221 – 230.
 - Fletcher, William W. (William Whigham) & Kirkwood, R.C. (Ralph C.) (1982). *Herbicides and plant growth regulators*. Granada, London; New York
 - Frost, B.A. (1996). Pesticide analysis: Selecting techniques for analyzing pesticides in fruits and vegetables. *Environmental Lab. Magazine T004*, Waters Chromatograghic Division, Millipore, Milford, Mass, USA.
 - Fung, Y.S. and Mark, J.L.L. (2001). Determination of pesticides in drinking water by micellar electrokinetic capillary Chromatography. *Electropheorosis* 22: 22602269

- Gerken, A., Suglo, J. and Braun, M. (2001): An Economic and Institutional Analysis of Current Practice and Factors Influencing Pesticide Use, a Publication of the Pesticide Policy Project, Hannover. *Ghana. Environ. Res.*, **106**, 17–26.
- Glotfelty, D.E., Seiber, J.N. and Liljedahl, L.A. (1987). Pesticides in fog. *Nature* 325: 602-605
- Glover-Amengor, M. and Tetteh, F.M. (2008). Effects of Pesticide Application Rate on Yield of Vegetables and Soil Microbial Communities. West Africa Journal of Applied Ecology 12: 1-7.
- GRO-Cocoa (2006). Global Research on Cocoa: issue 10, U.S DA. Pp 2-8
- Gruzdyer, G.S., Zinchenko, V.A., Kalinin, V.A. and Slovtov, R.I. (1983). The Chemical Protection of Plants. G.S. Gruzdyer (editor) Mir Publishers, Moscow. Pp. 1-471.
- Gyau, A., & Spiller, A. (2007). Determinants of trust in the international fresh produce business between Ghana and Europe. *International Business Management*, 1(4), 104-111.
- Hamilton, D. and Crossly, S., (2004). Pesticide in food and drinking water: Human exposure and risk. Wiley and Sons Ltd, Chichester, England pp363.
- Handa, S.K., Agnihotri, N.P. and Kulshrestha, G. (1999). Pesticide Residues: Significance, Management and Analysis, Research Periodicals and Book Publishing Home. Texas, USA
- Hogson, A. (2003). The high cost of pesticide poisoning in Northern Ghana. Pesticides News, 62 (3), 4-8.
- Horna D., Timpo S., Alhassan R.M., (2007). Vegetable Production and Pesticide use in Ghana; World G.M. varieties have an impact at the farm level. AAAE Conference Proceedings (2007), 473 477.

- Hudson, D. H. and Roberts, T. R. (1981). Progress in Pesticide Biochemistry. Publishers: John Wiley and Sons Ltd. New York. Pp. 82.
- Hura, C., Leanca, M., Rusu, L. and Hura B. A. (1999). Risk assessment of pollution with pesticides in food in the Eastern Romania area. Food Toxicology Laboratory, Institute of Public Health, Iassy, Romania
- International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) (2001). In: IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risk to Humans. *World Health Organ.*, **79**: 493567.
 Johnson, P.N.T. (2002) Overview of a recent DFID/NRI/FRI project on street-vended food in Accra. In: SADAOC (2002) Street food in Ghana: Types, environment patronage, laws and regulations. Proceedings of a roundtable conference on 6-901. ISSER. University of Ghana, Legon, Accra, pp.41-51
- Kannan, K.C., Tanabe, S. Giesy, J.P. and Tatsukawa, R. (1997). Organochlorine Pesticides and Polychlorinated Biphenyls in Food Stuffs from Asian and Oceanic Countries. *Rev. Environ. Contam Toxicology* 152 : 1- 55.
- Karallieddde, L.D., Edwards, P. and Marrs, T.C (2003). Variables influencing the toxic response to organophosphates. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*. 41: 1-13
- Krause. R.T. and August, E.M. 1983. Applicability of a multiresidue method and high performance liquid chromatography for determining quinomethionate in apples and oranges. *J. AOAC* 66(4): 1018-1022
- Kumari, B., Madan, V.K., Kumar R. and Kathpal, T.S. (2001). Monitoring of Seasonal vegetables for Pesticide Residues. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 74: 263 270.
- Lawrence, J.F. (1987). Analytical methodology for organophosphorus pesticides used in Canada. *Intern J. Environ. Anal. Chem.* 29: 289-303

- Lee, M.S., Papathakis, M.L., Feng, H.M.C., Hunter, G.F. and Carr, J. (1990). Poster 8B147th International Congress of Pesticide Chemistry, Hamburg, Germany, August 5-10, 1990
- Longnecker, M.P., Rogan, W.J. and Lucier, G. (1997). The human health effects of DDT (dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane) and PCBs (polychlorinated biphenyls) and an overview of organochlorines in public health. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 18: 211-244.
- Luke, M.A., Frodberg, J.E., Doose, G.M. and Mosmoto, H.T. (1981). Improved multiresidue gas chromatographic determination of organophosphorus, organonitrogen and organohalogen pesticides in produce using flame photometric and electrolytic conductivity detectors. *J AOAC* 64: 1187-1195
- Manirakiza P., Akinbamijo O., Covaci A., Pitonzo R. and Schepens P (2003). Assessment of organochlorine pesticide residues in West African city farms: Banjul and Dakar Case Study. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol.* 44:171–179.
- Miller, G. T. (2002). *Living in the Environment* (12th edition). Belmont: Wadsworth/ Thompson Learning. ISBN 5, 34-37.
- Miller, G. T. (2004). *Sustaining the Earth* (6th edition). Thompson learning Inc. Pacific Grove, California. Chapter 9. 211-216.
- Mukherjee, D.P., Bhupander, K., Sanjay, M., Meenu, R., Gaur, D., Prakash, S.K., Singh and C.S. Sharma. (2011). Occurrence and distribution of pesticide residues in selected seasonal vegetables from West Bengal. *Arch. Appl. Sci. Res.* 3(5):85-93.
- Murphy, G. (2005). Resistance Management Pesticides Rotation. Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs. Ontario, Canada. Available from: <u>http://www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/crops/hort/news/grower/2005/12gn05a</u>

SANE

- Nakata, H., Kawazoe, K., Arizono, S., Abe, T., Kitano, H., Shimada, W., Li and Ding, X. (2002). Organochlorine pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyl residues in foodstuffs and human tissues from China: Status of contamination, historical trend, and human dietary exposure. *Ach. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 43:473–480.
- Ntow, W.J., (2001) Organochlorine pesticides in water, sediment, crops, and human fluids in a farming community in Ghana. *Ach. Environ. Contam. Toxicol*, 40:557563.
- Ntow, W.J., Gijzen, H. J., Kalderman, P. and Drechesel, P. (2006). Farmer perceptions and pesticides use practices in vegetable production in Ghana. Pesticide management science, 62: 356-365.
- Ntow, W.J., Tagoe, L.M., Drechesel, P., Kalderman, P., Gizen, H. J. and Nyarko, E. (2008). Accumulation of persistent organochlorine contaminants in milk and serum of farmers from Ghana. *Environmental Research*, 106(1): 17-26.
- Nuertey, B.N., Tetteh, F.M., Opoku, A., Afari, P.A. and Asamoah, T.E.O. (2007). Effect of Roundup-Salt Mixtures on Weed Control and Soil Microbial Biomass under Oil Palm Plantation. *Journal of Ghana Science Association* 9: 61-75.
- Odhiambo, J.O., Shihua, Q., Xing, X., Zhang, Y. and Muhayimana, A.S. (2007): Residues of Organochlorine Pesticides in Vegetables from Deyang and Yanting Areas of the Chengdu Economic Region, Sichuan Province, China. *Journal of American Science*; 5 (4): 91-100
- Okorley, E.L and Kwarteng, J.A. (2002). Current status of the use of pesticides in urban and peri-urban vegetable production in the central region of Ghana. Paper presented at a workshop on the Sustainable Food Production Project on January 30, 2002: Accra, Ghana.
- Osafo, S. and Frempong, E. (1998). Lindane and endosulfan residues in water and fish in the Ashanti region of Ghana. *J. Ghana Sci. Assoc.*, 1, 135-140

- Rathore, H.S. and Nollet, L.M.L (2012). Pesticides: Evaluation of Environmental Pollution. Taylor and Francis Group, LLC. USA. Pp 544- 545.
- Reed, D.V., Lombardo, P., Wessel, J.R., Burke, J.A. and McMahon, B. (1987). The FDA pesticide monitoring program. J. AOAC 70:591-595

- Roberts, T.R., Hutson, D.H., Lee, P.W. and Nicholls, P.H. (1999). Metabolic Pathways of Agrochemicals. Part Two: Insecticides and Fungicides. Royal society of Chemistry, Cambridge, UK. Pg 172.
- Sadlo, S., Szpyrka, E., Jazwa A. and Zawislak A. (2007). Pesticide Residues in Fruit and Vegetables from South Eastern Poland, Polish. *Journal of Environmental Studies*, 16(2): 313-319.
- Stiling, P. D. (1985). An Introduction to Insect Pest and Their Control. Macmillan Publishers Ltd. New York. Pp 97.
- Udeh, P. J. (2004). A Guide to Healthy Drinking Water: All You Need to Know About the Water You Drink. Universe Inc. Lincoln USA. Pp 408 – 432.
- US Environment Protection Agency (1994). Method 8081A Organochlorine compounds by gas chromatography. at http://www.epa.gov/epaoswer/hazwaste/test/pdfs/8081a.pdf
- Usman, M., Tahir, S.I.N., Salma, R. and Shahzad, M. (2009): A Quantitative Analysis for the Toxic Pesticide Residues in marketed fruits and vegetables in Lahore, Pakistan.
 D: *Biomedica* Vol.25, Jul.-Dec. 2009/Bio- 23. Doc P. 171 174.
- Wandiga, O.S. (1995): Organochlorine Pesticides: Curse or Blessing in Tropical Agriculture? In Proceedings of the 6th International Chemistry Conference in Africa, Accra, Ghana: 31/July-4/August, 1995.
- Wania, F. and Mackay, D. (1995): A global distribution model for persistent organic chemicals. Science of the Total Environment 160-161, 211-232.

Wesseling, C., McConnell, R., Partanen, T. and Hogstedt, C. "Agricultural Pesticide Use in Developing Countries: Health Effects and Research Needs." *International Journal of Health Services*, Vol. 27, No. 2 (1997): 273-308.

Williams, P.L., James, C.R. and Roberts, S.M. (2000). Principles of Toxicology:
 Environmental and Industrial Applications. John Wiley & Sons. New York (NY).
 Pp 352 – 353.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Research Questionaire

Name of farmer.....

1. Age......Sex.....

2. Level of education

 a. degree []
 b. HND []
 c. Cert A []
 d. Secondary education []

 e. middle school/ JSS []
 f. Primary []
 g. Illetrate []

What vegetable crops do you grow a. carrots [] b. sweet pepper []
 c. cabbage []

4. What type of chemicals do you use on your farm?

Agrochemical	Tick	Agrochemical	Tick	Agrochemical	Tick
Thiodan	x	Methylthiophanate		Kocide	
/endos <mark>ulfan</mark>				St.	
Dursban/ Lorsban/	~	Metalaxyll	~	Mancozeb	
Chlorpyrifos 🥄	W.	SANE N	2		
Carbofuran		Karate		Dimethoate	
(furaden)					
Lambda		Warrior		Demand	
DDT		Other			

Other, specify

- 5. How many growing seasons do you have in а year? 6. How many times do you apply the chemicals in a growing season? b. twice [] c. thrice [] d. more than thrice [] a. once [] 7. How long after application do you harvest your crops? a. one week [] b. less than a week [] c. two weeks [] d. more than 2 weeks [] e. other specify 8. 9. How do you apply the chemicals a. spraying [] b. dipping [] c. fumigation [] d. other 10. What concentration of the pesticide do you apply?..... 11. Are you able to read and understand instructions on pesticide application procedures? a. YES [] b. NO [] 12. If no, who provides you with the information . a. other farmers [] b. chemical sellers [] c. extension officers [] d. friends and relatives [] e. other.....
 - 13. Do you normally mix two or more pesticides to enhance their effectiveness? YES [] NO []

14. If YES which chemicals do you normally mix?.....

15. Which of the following protective apparatus do you use during application?
a. goggles []
b. gloves []
c. coat []
d. nose mask []
e. boot []
f. combination.....

16. Do you experience any health problems with regards to chemical application

a. YES [] b. NO []

17. If YES specify

THANK YOU VERY MUCH



Appendix 2: Analysis Of Variance (Anova) For An Experiment Repeated Over Different Locations

Source of	Degrees of	Sum of	Mean	F-ratio	P-value
Variation	Freedom	Squares	Squares		
Blocks (wit	hin 2	60.248	30.124	87.825	0.000**
Places)					
Places	2	58.083	29.042	84.671	0.000**
Treatments			1		
	2	27.667	13.833	40.329	0.000**
Treatment x Places	25-1		17		8
4	4	47.454	11.864	34.589	0.000**
Error	22	2-15		7	
	33	11.333	0.343		
Total	43	598.083			
*significant at 0.0)1				

Appendix 3: Anova Table for green pepper (<i>Capsicum annum</i>)								
Sourc <mark>e of</mark>					2			
Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit		
Between	27. <mark>83333</mark>	11	2.530303	2.455882	0.075837	2.81793		
Within	0.666667	TAA	0.666667	0.647059	0.438206	4.844336		
Error	11.33333	11	1.030303					
Total	39.83333	23						

*not significant

Source	of					
Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between	11	8	1.375	1.622951	0.254398	3.438101
Within	0.222222		0.222222	0.262295	0.622383	5.317655
Error	6.777778	8	0.847222			
Total	18	17				
*not signific	cant	M	12			

Appendix 4: Anova Table for carrot ()aucus carota)

Appendix 5: Anova Table for cabbage (*Brassica oleracea var capitata*)

Source a	9f					
Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Rows	7.454545	10	0.745455	2.277778	0.105159	2.978237
Columns	0.727273	El	0.727273	2.222222	0.16689	4.964603
Error	3.272727	10	0.327273	55	~	
Total	11.45455	21				

*not significant

